

A variational study of some hadron bag models Loïc Le Treust

▶ To cite this version:

Loïc Le Treust. A variational study of some hadron bag models. 2012. hal-00714457v1

HAL Id: hal-00714457 https://hal.science/hal-00714457v1

Preprint submitted on 4 Jul 2012 (v1), last revised 18 Jan 2013 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

A VARIATIONAL STUDY OF SOME HADRON BAG MODELS

LOÏC LE TREUST

ABSTRACT. Quantum chromodynamics (QCD) is the theory of strong interaction and accounts for the internal structure of hadrons. Physicists introduced phenomenological models such as the M.I.T. bag model, the bag approximation and the soliton bag model to study the hadronic properties. We prove, in this paper, the existence of excited state solutions in the symmetric case and of a ground state solution in the non-symmetric case for the soliton bag and the bag approximation models thanks to the concentration compactness method. We show that the energy functionals of the bag approximation model are Γ -limits of sequences of soliton bag model energy functionals for the ground and excited state problems. The pre-compactness, up to translation, of the sequence of ground state solutions associated with the soliton bag energy functionals in the non-symmetric case is obtained combining the Γ -convergence theory and the concentration-compactness method. Finally, we give a rigorous proof of the original derivation of the M.I.T. bag equations done by Chodos, Jaffe, Johnson, Thorn and Weisskopf via a limit of bag approximation ground state solutions in the spherical case. The supersymmetry property of the Dirac operator is the key point in many of our arguments.

Contents

1. Introduction and main results	2
1.1. Some bag models	3
1.2. Variational formulations	5
1.3. Existence results	6
1.4. The bag approximation model as a Γ -limit of soliton bag models	8
1.5. The M.I.T. bag limit	10
2. Supersymmetry of the Dirac operator and spectral properties	11
2.1. The Dirac operator with scalar field on \mathbb{R}^3	11
2.2. The M.I.T. bag Dirac operator	14
3. Auxiliary results	14
4. The symmetric case	16
4.1. Pre-compactness results	16
4.2. Euler-Lagrange equations	18
5. The non-symmetric case	19
5.1. Pre-compactness results	19
5.2. Euler-Lagrange equations	22

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35J60, 35Q75, 49J45, 49Q10, 49S05, 81Q10, 81Q60, 81V05, 82B26.

Key words and phrases. Nonlinear equation, Dirac operator, Hadron bag model, Soliton bag model, Friedberg-Lee model, M.I.T. bag model, Supersymmetry, Ground and excited states, Foldy-Wouthuysen transformation, Variational method, Gamma-convergence, Gradient theory of phase transitions, Concentration compactness method, Free boundary problem.

$\mathbf{L}.$	LE	TREUST
---------------	----	--------

6. Gamma convergence results		
7. The M.I.T. bag limit		
Appendix A. A compactness result for bounded variation functions with		
symmetry	33	
Appendix B. The locally compact case of the concentration compactness		
method in the BV setting	33	
References	35	
Acknowledgement		

1. INTRODUCTION AND MAIN RESULTS

Quantum chromodynamics (QCD) is the theory of strong interaction and accounts for the internal structure of hadrons. At low-energy, the quarks are bound together to form baryons (protons, neutrons) and mesons. Nevertheless, the confinement mechanism has not yet been derived from the QCD equations. In order to study the hadronic properties, physicists introduced phenomenological models approximating the QCD equations in which the quarks are confined. Among them, the M.I.T. bag [9, 8, 7, 18] and the bag approximation models [9, 7] have been set in 1974 and the soliton bag model [11, 12, 20] in 1977.

The solutions of the equations of the soliton bag and the bag approximation models are critical points of non-linear functionals involving the Dirac operator. The mathematical techniques used to solved most equations of this type are different from the ones used in a non-relativistic framework (see the review paper of Esteban, Lewin and Séré [10]). Nevertheless, in our case, the supersymmetric properties of the Dirac operator with scalar field [38] allow us to transform a strongly indefinite variational problem into a minimization one and then to use the direct method in the calculus of variation [37]. Since the functionals associated with the ground state problems of the soliton bag and the bag approximation models without symmetries are invariant under translations, we show the existence of solutions thanks to the concentration compactness method under some restrictions on the parameters of the models. The originality of the proofs relies on the fact that the usual concentration compactness inequalities are not satisfied anymore and we have to introduce different inequalities to overcome it. We also show the existence of ground and excited state solutions under some conditions on the parameters, when the wave functions are supposed to have some symmetries. These are the first rigorous proofs of existence for these two models. Actually, solving the bag approximation model is a shape optimization problem on finite perimeter sets of \mathbb{R}^3 which is related with the soliton bag model thanks to the gradient theory of phase transitions [29, 30, 28, 35, 3, 4]. Indeed, we show that the energy functionals of the bag approximation model are Γ -limits of sequences of soliton bag model energy functionals for the ground and excited state problems. We combine the Γ -convergence theory and the concentration compactness method to get the pre-compactness, up to translation, of the sequence of ground state solutions associated with the soliton bag energy functionals in the non-symmetric case. As in the existence results, we have to introduce concentration compactness inequalities different from the classical ones. Bucur [6], Bucur and Giacomini [5] have already studied shape optimization problems thanks to the concentration compactness method. But, to our knowledge,

 $\mathbf{2}$

this is the first result using both the gradient theory of phase transition and the concentration compactness method. We also prove the pre-compactness of the sequences of excited state solutions associated with the soliton bag energy functionals in the symmetric case. Finally, we give a rigorous proof of the original derivation of the M.I.T. bag equations done by Chodos, Jaffe, Johnson, Thorn and Weisskopf via a limit of bag approximation ground state solutions in the spherical case. These are the first proofs which rigorously establish the link between the soliton bag, the bag approximation and the M.I.T. bag models.

Let us now introduce the different models we study.

1.1. Some bag models.

1.1.1. *The soliton bag model.* This model has been introduced by Friedberg and Lee [11, 12] and is sometimes called the Friedberg-Lee model.

Here, we look for a solution $(\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N, \phi)$ of the following system of equations:

(1.1)
$$\begin{cases} H_0\psi_i + g\beta\phi\psi_i &= \lambda_i\psi_i, \quad \forall i = 1, \dots, N \\ \|\psi_i\|_{L^2} &= 1, \quad \forall i = 1, \dots, N \\ -\Delta\phi + U'(\phi) + \sum_{i=1}^N g\psi_i^*\beta\psi_i &= 0, \end{cases}$$

where $N \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}, g > 0, \phi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ and for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}, \psi_i : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}^4$. $H_0 = -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + \beta m = -i\alpha_k \partial_k + \beta m$ is the Dirac operator in the Pauli-Dirac representation (see [38]) : $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$,

$$\beta = \begin{pmatrix} I_2 & 0 \\ 0 & -I_2 \end{pmatrix}, \alpha_k = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \boldsymbol{\sigma}_k \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}_k & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for } k = 1, 2, 3,$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_1 = \left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \ 1 & 0 \end{array}
ight), \boldsymbol{\sigma}_2 = \left(egin{array}{cc} 0 & -i \ i & 0 \end{array}
ight), \boldsymbol{\sigma}_3 = \left(egin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \ 0 & -1 \end{array}
ight),$$

and m > 0; X^* denotes the complex conjugate of $X \in \mathbb{C}^4$. We have used here Einstein's convention for the summation.

Solutions of equations (1.1) are called quasi-classical [11, 12].

 ϕ is a phenomenological scalar field that models the QCD vacuum and ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_N are the wave functions of the N valence quarks. N is fixed at 2 for mesons and 3 for baryons. g is the positive coupling constant between the quark and the scalar fields. λ_i represents the energy of the i^{th} -relativistic particle in the scalar field ϕ , so it has to be positive for ψ_i to be a physically admissible state (see chapter 1 of [38] for a physical interpretation of the negative part of the spectrum of a Dirac operator). Some of the N particles can have the same wave function and this does not necessarily contradict Pauli's exclusion principle because quarks possess others quantum numbers such as color. Let us denote by N_0 the maximal amount of particles possible with the same wave function ψ . We will always assume that the number of these particles is lower than N_0 .

Saly, Horn, Goldflam and Wilets have already found numerical ground [32, 17] and excited state [33] solutions when the quark wave functions are sought among those of the particular form:

(1.2)
$$\psi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} v(r) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ iu(r) \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta\\ \sin \theta e^{i\varphi} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$

where (r, θ, φ) are the spherical coordinates of x and ϕ is radial. We denote by $H^{1/2}_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ the set of the functions ψ of this type which belong to $H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ and $H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ the radial functions of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$. Actually, it is commonly admitted by physicists that the ground state has to be searched among those functions, but to our knowledge, no rigorous proof ensures it.

Throughout this paper, we will assume that $U : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a non-negative \mathcal{C}^1 function such that U and its derivative U' vanish at zero and:

(H0)
$$|U'(x)| \le C(|x| + |x|^p) \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R} \text{ with } 1$$

Our problem has indeed a variational structure: we look for a critical point of the C^1 energy functional:

$$\mathcal{E}(\psi_1, \dots, \psi_N, \phi)$$

= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^N (\psi_i, H_0 \psi_i) + g\phi(\psi_i, \beta\psi_i) \right) + \frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{2} + U(\phi) \right] dx$

on the set $\{(\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N, \phi) \in H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)^N \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) : \|\psi_i\|_{L^2} = 1\}$. λ_i are the Lagrange multipliers associated with the $\|.\|_{L^2}$ -constraints and (., .) is the complex scalar product.

1.1.2. The bag approximation. This model has been introduced by Chodos, Jaffe, Johnson, Thorn and Weisskopf [9, 8] to derive the M.I.T. bag model as a limit case.

Here, the scalar field ϕ of the previous model is replaced by a characteristic function χ_{Ω} but it still models the cavity where the quarks are encouraged to live.

The Lagrangian of the bag approximation is:

$$\mathcal{F}(\psi_1,\ldots,\psi_N,\chi_\Omega) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\sum_{i=1}^N (\psi_i,H_0\psi_i) - g\chi_\Omega(\psi_i,\beta\psi_i) \right] dx + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega|,$$

for ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_N in $H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$. ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_N still represent the quark wave functions. The characteristic function χ_{Ω} of Ω belongs to $\{\chi_{\omega} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})\}$. $|\Omega|$ denotes the area of Ω and $P(\Omega)$ its perimeter. We will write, in this paper, the variation of a function $\phi \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ on a Borel set \mathcal{A} by $|\nabla \phi|(\mathcal{A})$, so that:

$$|\nabla \chi_{\Omega}|(\mathbb{R}^3) = P(\Omega)$$

The constants a, b, m, g are positive.

The above functional is \mathcal{C}^1 on $H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)^N \times \{\chi_\omega \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})\}$ and its critical points on the set

$$\{(\psi_1, \dots, \psi_N, \chi_\Omega) \in H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)^N \times BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) : \|\psi_i\|_{L^2} = 1\}$$

satisfy (see [14, 16]):

(1.3)
$$\begin{cases} \{-i\alpha.\nabla + \beta(m-g)\}\psi_i &= \lambda_i\psi_i, \quad \forall i = 1, \dots, N \quad \text{on } \Omega\\ \{-i\alpha.\nabla + \beta m\}\psi_i &= \lambda_i\psi_i, \quad \forall i = 1, \dots, N \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^3\backslash\overline{\Omega}\\ \|\psi_i\|_{L^2} &= 1, \quad \forall i = 1, \dots, N\\ a\mathcal{H}_{\Omega} + b - \sum_{i=1}^N g\psi_i^*\beta\psi_i &= 0 \quad \mathcal{H}^2\text{-a.a. in } \partial^*\Omega \end{cases}$$

where \mathcal{H}_{Ω} is the mean curvature of $\partial^*\Omega$, and \mathcal{H}^2 is the two-dimensional Hausdorff measure.

1.1.3. The M.I.T. bag model. The M.I.T. bag model is another model where the quark wave functions are perfectly confined in a bag [9, 8, 7, 18]. It has been widely studied and has lead to results fitting the experiments [7].

Let us, for the moment, introduce the equations in a fixed non-empty bounded regular open set Ω of \mathbb{R}^3 . In this paper, we will just consider the ground state problem, so that, we look for a single function ψ , solution of the following problem:

(1.4)
$$\begin{cases} H_0\psi = \lambda\psi \text{ on }\Omega\\ -i\beta(\alpha.n)\psi = \psi \text{ on }\partial\Omega\\ \|\psi\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1, \end{cases}$$

where $\psi \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^4)$, $\lambda > m$ and n is the exterior normal to $\partial \Omega$.

We denote \mathcal{A} the set composed of non-empty bounded open sets of \mathbb{R}^3 with spherical symmetry. When Ω belongs to \mathcal{A} , we look for an eigenfunction ψ in $H^1_{sym}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^4)$ i.e. of the form (1.2). In that case, the boundary condition becomes:

$$u = v \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

The problem of finding a good Lagrangian formulation for these equations has been widely studied [18, 19]. This has been a motivation for the physicists to introduce other phenomenological models like the soliton bag model of Friedberg and Lee [11, 12] and the fractional bag model of Mathieu and Saly [27, 26]. Balabane, Cazenave and Vazquez [2] already proved the existence of compactly supported ground state solutions for this latter model thanks to a shooting method.

1.2. Variational formulations. The main difficulty we have to face in the soliton bag and bag approximation models, is that the functionals considered are strongly indefinite: they are neither bounded from below nor from above and their critical points have an infinite Morse index. So, for now, we do not have any satisfactory formulations of the ground and excited state problems.

The key point to overcome this in all the models, relies on a fine study of the Dirac operator.

1.2.1. The soliton bag and bag approximation case.

Lemma 1.1. Let $\phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$, then $H_{\phi} = H_0 + g\beta\phi$ is a self-adjoint operator on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$, with domain $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ and form-domain $H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ whenever $3 \leq p \leq +\infty$. It satisfies:

$$\sigma_{ess}(H_{\phi}) = \sigma_{ess}(H_0) = (-\infty, -m] \cup [m, +\infty).$$

The proof of this lemma is based on Kato-Rellich theorem and Weyl's criteria for essential spectrum and can be found in chapter 4 of [38].

We denote E the Hilbert space where we search for the quark functions and F the associated space for ϕ or χ_{Ω} when no confusion is possible. $E \times F$ can be:

$$H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4) \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}),$$

$$H^{1/2}_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4) \times H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}),$$

$$H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4) \times \{\chi_{\omega} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})\},$$

$$H^{1/2}_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4) \times \{\chi_{\omega} \in BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})\}.$$

We define $E_{\phi}^+ = \chi_{(0,+\infty)}(H_{\phi})E$ where $\chi_{(0,+\infty)}$ is the characteristic function of $(0,+\infty)$ and for $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$:

$$\lambda_{+}^{k}(H_{\phi}) = \inf_{\substack{V \subset E_{\phi}^{+} \\ \dim V = k}} \sup_{\substack{\psi \in V \\ \|\psi\|_{L^{2}} = 1}} (\psi, H_{\phi}\psi).$$

Remark 1.2. The symmetry of the spectrum with respect to 0 is actually true not only for the essential spectrum of Dirac operators with scalar field as in lemma 1.1 but also for the whole spectrum. This property is related with the supersymmetric operator theory which will be an essential tool in our study, for instance, to give a simpler expression for $\lambda^k_+(H_\phi)$.

The well-defined minimization problems are then, for $1 \le k_1 \le \cdots \le k_N$ in the soliton bag model:

(1.5)
$$\inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{N}\lambda_{+}^{k_{i}}(H_{\phi})+\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\left[\frac{|\nabla\phi|^{2}}{2}+U(\phi)\right]dx:\phi\in F\right\}$$

and in the bag approximation:

(1.6)
$$\inf\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{N}\lambda_{+}^{k_{i}}(H_{-\chi_{\Omega}})+aP(\Omega)+b|\Omega|:\chi_{\Omega}\in F\right\}.$$

We get here a good formulation for the ground state problems when $k_1 = \cdots = k_N = 1$. The other cases are related to the exited states.

1.2.2. The M.I.T. bag case. Let Ω a non-empty bounded regular open set of \mathbb{R}^3 . Define

$$\mathcal{D}(H_0) = \{ \psi \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^4) : -i\beta(\alpha.n)\psi = \psi \text{ on } \partial\Omega \}$$

and $\mathcal{D}_{sym}(H_0) = \mathcal{D}(H_0) \cap H^1_{sym}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^4)$. *E* will denote one of these two sets when no confusion is possible. We call (H_0, E) the M.I.T. bag Dirac operator.

Proposition 1.3. The operator (H_0, E) is self-adjoint and there is a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues $(\lambda_n)_{n>1} \subset (m, +\infty)$ which tends to infinity such that:

$$\sigma(H_0) = \{\ldots, -\lambda_2, -\lambda_1\} \cup \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots\}.$$

We denote for each n, $\lambda_{MIT}^n(\Omega) := \lambda_n$.

Remark 1.4. The main ideas of the proof of proposition 1.3 will be given in the second section.

The variational formulation for the ground state is:

$$\inf\left\{N\lambda_{MIT}^{1}(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \Omega \in \mathcal{A}\right\},\$$

where a, b > 0 and $N \leq N_0$.

Remark 1.5. We replaced the set $\{\Omega : \chi_{\Omega} \in BV_{rad} \setminus \{0\}\}$ of the bag approximation model by \mathcal{A} for the problem to be well defined. Nevertheless, there is no loss of generality since for each $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV_{rad}$, there exists a good representative $\chi_{\widetilde{\Omega}}$ such that $\widetilde{\Omega}$ belongs to \mathcal{A} (see [1]).

1.3. Existence results.

1.3.1. The soliton case. We get the following results:

Theorem 1.6. Let $K \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ and m > 0 be fixed. There are $g_0 > 0$ and for $g > g_0$, a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if:

(H1)
$$\sup_{x \in [-m/g,0]} U(x) < \delta,$$

(H2) there is a positive constant c such that
$$U(x) \ge cx^2$$
 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

then, for any $1 \leq k_1 \leq \cdots \leq k_N \leq K$, there exists a solution

$$(\psi_1,\ldots,\psi_N,\phi)\in H^{1/2}_{sum}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^4)^N\times H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R})$$

of equations (1.1) with $\lambda_i = \lambda_+^{k_i}(H_{\phi}) \in (0, \infty)$ where ϕ is a minimum of problem (1.5).

Let us make some comments:

Remark 1.7. Condition (H0) is just a mathematical constraint for \mathcal{E} to be welldefined and differentiable. This does not restrict the set of admissible potentials Uconsidered by the physicists [11].

Remark 1.8. Friedberg and Lee [11] derived some conditions on m, g and U comparable to ours for the model to have soliton solutions.

Remark 1.9. They also assumed U to be a non-negative polynomial of degree 4 with two minima at 0 and $-\phi_0 < 0$ such that $0 = U(0) \leq U(-\phi_0)$. In many of their proofs, they considered condition (H2) true. Nevertheless, most of the numerical works were performed by Saly, Horn, Goldflam and Wilets [32, 33, 17] with $U(-\phi_0) = 0$. Actually, the symmetry $U(0) = U(-\phi_0)$ seems not to prevent the scalar field to tend to $-\phi_0$ at infinity and this leads to some mathematical complications in the minimization. However, c can be chosen as small as we want.

This is the first rigorous proof of the existence of ground and excited states for wave functions of form (1.2). The symmetry of the functions leads to the compactness properties established by Strauss [36] and Lions [24]. As we remark before, no result ensures that the ground state has to possess such a symmetry. So, in theorem 1.10, we prove the existence of a ground state with no assumption made on the form of the quark wave function with the help of the concentration compactness method.

Theorem 1.10. Let m > 0 be fixed. There are $g_0 > 0$ and for $g > g_0$, a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if:

(H1)
$$\sup_{x \in [-m/g,0]} U(x) < \delta,$$

(H2) there is a positive constant c such that $U(x) \ge cx^2$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

then, there exists a solution $(\psi, \ldots, \psi, \phi) \in H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)^N \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ of equations (1.1) with $\lambda = \lambda_i = \lambda_+^1(H_\phi) \in (0, \infty)$ where ϕ is a minimum of problem (1.5) for $k_1 = \cdots = k_N = 1$.

1.3.2. The bag approximation. The same method adapted to the BV setting gives us similar results for the bag approximation model.

Theorem 1.11. Let $K \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. Assume $g \in (0, 2m)$. There is a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if:

 $(H1) a, \ b < \delta,$

then, for any $1 \leq k_1 \leq \cdots \leq k_N \leq K$, there exists a solution

$$(\psi_1,\ldots,\psi_N,\chi_\Omega) \in H^{1/2}_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^4)^N \times BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R})$$

of equations (1.3) with

$$\lambda_i = \lambda_+^{k_i}(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) \in (0,\infty)$$

where χ_{Ω} is a minimum of problem (1.6).

Theorem 1.12. Assume $g \in (0, 2m)$. There is a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if:

$$(H1) a, \ b < \delta,$$

then, there exists a solution $(\psi, \ldots, \psi, \chi_{\Omega}) \in H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)^N \times BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ of equations (1.3) with $\lambda = \lambda_i = \lambda_+^1(H_{-\chi_{\Omega}}) \in (0, \infty)$ where χ_{Ω} is a minimum of problem (1.6) for $k_1 = \cdots = k_N = 1$.

1.4. The bag approximation model as a Γ -limit of soliton bag models. The following results show the link between the soliton bag and the bag approximation models and are based on the Γ -convergence theory.

Let us consider first for $\epsilon > 0$ and b > 0 the following functionals:

$$E_{\epsilon}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\epsilon |\nabla \phi|^2 + W(\phi)/\epsilon + b|\phi|^2 \right) dx & \text{if } \phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$E_0(\phi) = \begin{cases} aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| & \text{if } \phi = -\chi_\Omega \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $W : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a \mathcal{C}^1 function which satisfies $W^{-1}(\{0\}) = \{-1, 0\}$, (H0) and $a = 2 \int_{-1}^0 \sqrt{W(s)} ds$.

Proposition 1.13. Assume that there are positive constants c and 2 < q such that:

$$W(t) \le c(|t|^2 + |t|^q) \quad \forall t.$$

Then, E_{ϵ} Γ -converges to E_0 in $L^2 \cap L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}}$.

This proposition is an adaptation of the result of Modica and Mortola [29, 30] generalized by Modica [28] (see also Sternberg [35] or Braides [3]) for the gradient theory of phase transitions in an unbounded setting. Its proof strongly uses the one of [35].

Let us introduce for $\epsilon > 0$:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\epsilon}(\phi) = \begin{cases} N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi}) + E_{\epsilon}(\phi) & \text{if } \phi \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}(\phi) = \begin{cases} N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{-\chi_{\Omega}}) + E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega}) & \text{if } \phi = -\chi_{\Omega} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Theorem 1.14. Assume that the condition of proposition 1.13 is true. Then, \mathcal{E}_{ϵ} Γ - converges to \mathcal{E}_0 in $L^2 \cap L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}}$.

Let us assume besides that there are $c > 0, t_1 < -1 < t_2 < 0$ such that W satisfies:

$$W(t) \ge c|t|^q$$

for all $t \notin (t_1, t_2)$ and

(1.7)
$$l_c = \inf \{ \mathcal{E}_0(\phi) : \phi = -\chi_\Omega \in BV \} < Nm$$

Then, there is $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$, the problem

(1.8)
$$l_s^{\epsilon} = \inf\{\mathcal{E}_{\epsilon}(\phi) : \phi \in H^1\} < Nm$$

has a minimum ϕ_{ϵ} . There is a subsequence such that, up to translation, we have:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_{\epsilon_n} \to \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ strictly in } BV\\ \phi_{\epsilon_n} \to (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}]\\ l_s^{\epsilon_n} \to l_c \end{cases}$$

where $-\chi_{\Omega}$ is a minimum of problem (1.7) and $\mathcal{W}: t \mapsto 2 \int_0^t \sqrt{\mathcal{W}(s)} ds$.

The constant ϵ in the functionals can be obtained by scale change in some soliton bag functional.

Remark 1.15. The physicists [11] actually considered potentials U in the soliton bag model of the form

$$U:\phi\mapsto W(\phi)+b|\phi|^2$$

satisfying the conditions of theorem 1.14.

Remark 1.16. Goldflam and Wilets [15] studying the dependance of the numerical solutions on the parameters exhibit behaviors of the ϕ field similar to the ones of the Modica-Mortolla problem [29, 30, 28, 35, 3]. Nevertheless, this is the first result which shows clearly the link between the two models we studied.

Remark 1.17. The main difficulty here is that the problems are set in an unbounded domain. We overcome this combining the Γ -convergence theory and the concentration compactness method.

We get a similar result in the symmetric case. Let $1 \leq k_1 \leq \cdots \leq k_N \leq K$ be integers. We define for $\epsilon > 0$:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\epsilon,k_1,\ldots,k_N}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_+^{k_i}(H_\phi) + E_\epsilon(\phi) & \text{if } \phi \in H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{0,k_1,\dots,k_N}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_+^{k_i}(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) + E_0(-\chi_\Omega) & \text{if } \phi = -\chi_\Omega \in BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R}) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Theorem 1.18. Assume the condition of proposition 1.13 true. Then, $\mathcal{E}_{\epsilon,k_1,\ldots,k_N}$ Γ - converges to $\mathcal{E}_{0,k_1,\ldots,k_N}$ in $L^2 \cap L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}}$. Let us assume besides that there are c > 0, $t_1 < -1 < t_2 < 0$ such that W

satisfies:

$$W(t) \ge c|t|^q$$

for all $t \notin (t_1, t_2)$ and

$$\inf \{ \mathcal{E}_{0,K,\ldots,K}(\phi) : \phi = -\chi_{\Omega} \in BV_{rad} \} < Nm.$$

Then, there is $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$, the problem

(1.9)
$$l_s^{\epsilon}(k_1, \dots, k_N) = \inf \{ \mathcal{E}_{\epsilon, k_1, \dots, k_N}(\phi) : \phi \in H_{rad}^1 \} < Nm$$

has a minimum ϕ_{ϵ} . There is a subsequence such that:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_{\epsilon_n} \to \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ strictly in } BV \\ \phi_{\epsilon_n} \to (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}] \\ l_s^{\epsilon_n}(k_1, \dots, k_N) \to l_c(k_1, \dots, k_N) \end{cases}$$

where $-\chi_{\Omega}$ is a minimum of problem:

(1.10)
$$l_c(k_1, \dots, k_N) = \inf \{ \mathcal{E}_{0, k_1, \dots, k_N}(\phi) : \phi = -\chi_\Omega \in BV_{rad} \}.$$

1.5. The M.I.T. bag limit. We study in this paper the M.I.T. bag ground state problem in the symmetric case, i.e. when the open set Ω is sought in \mathcal{A} . Indeed, our main goal in this section is to give a rigorous proof of the original derivation of the M.I.T. bag equations done by Chodos, Jaffe, Johnson, Thorn and Weisskopf [9] via a limit of bag approximation ground state solutions in the spherical case.

Proposition 1.19. There is a minimizer $\Omega \in \mathcal{A}$ of

$$\inf \left\{ N\lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \Omega \in \mathcal{A} \right\}$$

which is a ball B(0, R) when b = 0.

Theorem 1.20. Let $(M_n)_n \subset (0, +\infty)$ an increasing sequence such that:

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} M_n = +\infty.$$

There are C_0 , $n_0 > 0$, and for $n \ge n_0$, a minimizer $R_n > 0$ of

$$l_n := \inf \left\{ N\lambda^1_+(H^n_{B(0,R)}) + aP(B(0,R)) : R > 0 \right\} \le C_0$$

a function $\psi_n \in H^1_{sum}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ satisfying:

$$\begin{cases} H^n_{B(0,R_n)}\psi_n &= \lambda^1_+(H^n_{B(0,R_n)})\psi_n \\ \|\psi_n\|_{L^2} &= 1, \end{cases}$$

where $H_{\Omega}^{n} = -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + \beta (m\chi_{\Omega} + M_{n}\chi_{\Omega^{c}})$, such that, up to a subsequence:

$$\begin{cases} R_n \to R > 0, \\ l_n \to \inf \left\{ N\lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) : \Omega \in \mathcal{A} \right\}, \\ \psi_n \to \psi\chi_{B(0,R)} \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \text{ and in } L^\infty(B(0,R+\epsilon)^c \cup B(0,R-\epsilon)) \end{cases}$$

for all $0 < \epsilon < R/2$. R comes from proposition 1.19, the function ψ belongs to $H^1_{sum}(B(0,R), \mathbb{C}^4)$ and satisfies:

$$\begin{cases} H_0\psi &=\lambda_{MIT}^1(B(0,R))\psi \quad on \ B(0,R)\\ -i\beta(\alpha.n)\psi &=\psi & on \ \partial B(0,R)\\ \|\psi\|_{L^2(B(0,R))} &=1. \end{cases}$$

Remark 1.21. Chodos, Jaffe, Johnson, Thorn and Weisskopf impose to the ground state cavity to be a ball, just as in theorem 1.20. Nevertheless, if we want to remove this restriction, some difficulties occur. We will point out in our proof where the problems arise.

The key point of all this paper is the use of supersymmetry properties of the Dirac operator studied in the second section. We give in the third section, some auxiliary results related to the continuity of the eigenvalues of H_{ϕ} in ϕ . We prove the existence theorems for the soliton bag and the bag approximation models in the symmetric case in the fourth section. In the fifth section, the pre-compactness, up to translation, of minimizing sequences for the existence theorems 1.10 and 1.12 follows from the concentration-compactness method. Supersymmetry allows us to get rid of the problems occurring with the constraints on the sign of the eigenvalues λ of the operators H_{ϕ} and gives the binding inequalities necessary in the concentration-compactness argument. The sixth section is related to the proofs of proposition 1.13, theorems 1.14 and 1.18, which are based on Γ -convergence and concentration compactness method. Finally, we give the first rigorous proof of the derivation of the M.I.T. bag equations in the last section.

2. Supersymmetry of the Dirac operator and spectral properties

The variational formulations (1.5) and (1.6) are not satisfactory because the definitions of the eigenvalues $\lambda_{+}^{k}(H_{\phi})$ or $\lambda_{MIT}^{k}(\Omega)$ are not easy to handle for k > 0, Ω a set of finite perimeter in \mathbb{R}^{3} and $\phi \in L^{p}$ for some $p \geq 3$. Nevertheless, the supersymmetry theory for Dirac operators will allow us to overcome these problems. We strongly used in this part the introduction to the theory of Thaller [38].

Definition 2.1. Let τ be a non-trivial unitary involution on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . A self-adjoint operator Q on \mathcal{H} with domain $\mathcal{D}(Q)$ is a supercharge with respect to τ if $\tau \mathcal{D}(Q) \subset \mathcal{D}(Q)$ and $\tau Q = -Q\tau$ on $\mathcal{D}(Q)$.

2.1. The Dirac operator with scalar field on \mathbb{R}^3 . We begin by a study of Dirac operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ with a special type of potentials. Let $\phi \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ for some $3 \leq p \leq +\infty$. We define:

$$T := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_2 & iI_2 \\ iI_2 & I_2 \end{pmatrix}, \ D_{\phi} := -i\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla + i(m+g\phi), \ D_{\phi}^* := -i\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla - i(m+g\phi),$$
 and

$$Q_{\phi} := TH_{\phi}T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D_{\phi}^* \\ D_{\phi} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then, by lemma 1.1, Q_{ϕ} is a supercharge with respect to the involution β whose domain is $\mathcal{D}(Q_{\phi}) = T\mathcal{D}(H_{\phi})$. It can be either $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ in the non-symmetric case or $H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)^2$ in the symmetric case where we denote $H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ the subset of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ whose functions are of the form:

$$x\mapsto \left(\begin{array}{c} -v(r)+u(r)cos\theta\\ u(r)sin\theta e^{i\varphi} \end{array}\right),$$

in the spherical coordinates (r, θ, φ) .

 D_{ϕ} is a closed operator on $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2})$ with domain H^{1} such that D_{ϕ}^{*} is its adjoint and inversely. Let us remark moreover that:

$$Q_{\phi}^{2} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} D_{\phi}^{*} D_{\phi} & 0\\ 0 & D_{\phi} D_{\phi}^{*} \end{array}\right),$$

is a self-adjoint operator on L^2 with domain

$$\mathcal{D}(Q^2_\phi) = \{ \psi \in H^1 : Q_\phi \psi \in H^1 \}_{\{\phi\}}$$

which can be different from H^2 if ϕ is not regular enough.

In the following lemma, we show that 0 is not in the spectrum of H_{ϕ} .

Lemma 2.2. We have:
$$\ker(Q_{\phi}) = \ker(Q_{\phi}^{2}) = \ker(D_{\phi}^{*}D_{\phi}) \oplus \ker(D_{\phi}D_{\phi}^{*}) = \{0\}.$$

Proof. Let $\omega \in H^1$ such that $D_{\phi}\omega = 0$. Then, we get:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (m+g\phi)|\omega|^2 dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \omega^* \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega dx = 1/2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} div(\omega^* \boldsymbol{\sigma} \omega) dx = 0,$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \omega|^2 dx = \int_{supp(\omega)} |\nabla \omega|^2 dx = \int_{supp(\omega)} |\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla \omega|^2 dx \\ = \int_{supp(\omega)} (m + g\phi)^2 |\omega|^2 dx = 0,$$

where $supp(\omega)$ is the support of ω . Thus, we have the result.

We are now able to write down the Foldy-Wouthuysen representation of our supercharge operator. This allows us to give simpler expressions for the eigenvalues.

 ${\bf Theorem \ 2.3.} \ Define \ the \ unitary \ transformations:$

$$S = (\sqrt{D_{\phi} D_{\phi}^{*}})^{-1} D_{\phi} = D_{\phi} \sqrt{D_{\phi}^{*} D_{\phi}^{-1}} \text{ of } H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2})$$

and

$$sgn \ Q_{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & S^* \\ S & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ U_{FW} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (1 + \beta (sgn \ Q_{\phi})) \ of \ H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4).$$

Then, we have:

$$U_{FW}Q_{\phi}U_{FW}^{*} = \beta|Q_{\phi}| = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{D_{\phi}^{*}D_{\phi}} & 0\\ 0 & -\sqrt{D_{\phi}D_{\phi}^{*}} \end{pmatrix}$$

and ${D_\phi}^* D_\phi$ and ${D_\phi} {D_\phi}^*$ are unitarily equivalent. Moreover, we have:

$$m^2 = \inf \sigma_{ess}(D_{\phi}^* D_{\phi})$$

and

$$\lambda_+^k(H_\phi) = \sqrt{\lambda^k(D_\phi^* D_\phi)} = \inf_{\substack{V \subset H^1, \\ \dim V = k}} \sup_{\substack{\omega \in V, \\ \|\omega\|_{L^2} = 1}} \|D_\phi \omega\|_{L^2}.$$

The proof can be found in Thaller [38] and we give here a sketch of proof for the reader's convenience.

Sketch of proof. We easily get that $U_{FW}^{-1} = U_{FW}^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (1 - \beta(sgn \ Q_{\phi}))$ and

$$U_{FW}Q_{\phi}U_{FW}^* = \beta(sgn \ Q_{\phi})Q_{\phi} = \beta|Q_{\phi}|,$$

since Q_{ϕ} and $sgn \ Q_{\phi}$ commute. $sgn \ Q_{\phi}$ commutes with Q_{ϕ}^2 too so, we get that $D_{\phi}^* D_{\phi} = SD_{\phi}^* D_{\phi} S.$

Remark 2.4. All the results of theorem 2.3 are also true in the symmetric case if we replace the spaces

$$L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2), \ H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2), \ldots$$

involved with those denoted by

$$L^2_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^2), H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^2),\ldots$$

composed of the functions of the form:

$$x\mapsto \left(\begin{array}{c} v(r)+u(r)cos\theta\\ u(r)sin\theta e^{i\phi} \end{array}\right),$$

where (r, θ, ϕ) are the spherical coordinates.

We give now conditions on the parameters of the soliton bag and the bag approximation models that ensures that the operator H_{ϕ} associated with any minimizer ϕ of (1.5) or (1.6) has enough eigenvalues in (0, m) counted with multiplicity. The following lemmas are true both in the symmetric and in the general case.

Lemma 2.5. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}\setminus\{0\}$ and m > 0 be fixed. There are $g_0 > 0$ and for all $g > g_0$, a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if $\sup_{r \in [-m/g,0]} U(r) < \delta$ then,

$$0 < ls_k = \inf\left\{N\lambda_+^k(H_\phi) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla\phi|^2}{2} + U(\phi)\right]dx : \phi \in F\right\} < Nm$$

Proof.

For 0 < R < R', $0 < \epsilon$, let $\phi_{R,R'} \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R})$ be such that

$$\|\nabla\phi_{R,R'}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \frac{m+\epsilon}{g(R'-R)}$$

and

$$\phi_{R,R'}(x) = \begin{cases} -m/g & for \quad x \in B(0,R) \\ 0 & for \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B(0,R'). \end{cases}$$

Let $\omega_R \in H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ satisfying $supp(\omega_R) \subset B(0, R)$ and $\|\omega_R\|_{L^2} = 1$, where B(0, R) is the ball centered at 0 in \mathbb{R}^3 of radius R. Then, we have:

$$\|D_{\phi_{R,R'}}\omega_R\|_{L^2}^2 = \|\nabla\omega_R\|_{L^2}^2.$$

Now, choosing for ω_R , a normalized eigenfunction for the k^{th} -eigenvalue $C_R^k > 0$ of the Dirichlet laplacian on B(0, R), we get:

$$\|D_{\phi_{R,R'}}\omega_R\|_{L^2}^2 = C_R^k = \frac{C_1^k}{R^2}$$

Thus, the energy satisfies:

$$ls_{k} \leq N\sqrt{\lambda^{k}(D_{\phi_{R,R'}} * D_{\phi_{R,R'}})} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left[\frac{|\nabla\phi_{R,R'}|^{2}}{2} + U(\phi_{R,R'})\right] dx$$
$$\leq \frac{N\sqrt{C_{1}^{k}}}{R} + \frac{4\pi(m+\epsilon)^{2}}{6g^{2}} \frac{R'^{2} + RR' + R^{2}}{R' - R} + \frac{4\pi}{3} \left(\sup_{r \in [-m/g,0]} U(r)\right) R'^{3}.$$

For now, we fix $R' = (1 + \sqrt{3})R$, the point which minimizes $R' \mapsto \frac{R'^2 + RR' + R^2}{R' - R}$. If there exists R > 0 such that :

$$f(R) = \frac{N\sqrt{C_1^k}}{R} + \frac{4m^2(3+2\sqrt{3})\pi}{6g^2}R + \frac{4(1+\sqrt{3})^3\pi}{3}\left(\sup_{r\in[-m/g,0]}U(r)\right)R^3$$

< Nm,

we immediately get the result. Thus, a necessary condition is:

$$\frac{2m}{g} \left(N\sqrt{C_1^k} \frac{4(3+2\sqrt{3})\pi}{6} \right)^{1/2} = \inf_{R>0} \left\{ \frac{N\sqrt{C_1^k}}{R} + \frac{4m^2(3+2\sqrt{3})\pi}{6g^2} R \right\} < Nm.$$

For such a g, there exists $\delta_g>0$ such that if $\sup_{r\in [-m/g,0]} U(r)<\delta_g,$ then,

$$\inf_{R>0} f(R) < Nm.$$

L. LE TREUST

A similar result holds for the bag approximation case.

Lemma 2.6. Let $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. Assume that $g \in (0, 2m)$. There is a constant $\delta > 0$ such that if $a, b < \delta$ then,

$$0 < lc_k = \inf\{N\lambda_+^k(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \chi_\Omega \in F\} < Nm.$$

Proof. For 0 < R, we choose $\chi_{\Omega} = \chi_{B(0,R)}$ and ω_k a normalized eigenfunction for the k^{th} -eigenvalue $C_R^k > 0$ of the Dirichlet laplacian on B(0,R). We get:

$$0 < lc_k \le N \sqrt{\frac{C_1^k}{R^2} + (m-g)^2} + a4\pi R^2 + b4/3\pi R^3,$$

and the result follows.

2.2. The M.I.T. bag Dirac operator. Just as in the previous case, the supersymmetry gives us a good frame to study the problem of the eigenvalues of the M.I.T. bag Dirac operator. We set:

$$D = -i\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla + i\boldsymbol{m}, \quad \mathcal{D}(D) = \{\omega \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^2) : -\boldsymbol{\sigma}.n\omega = \omega \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}, \\ D^* = -i\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla - i\boldsymbol{m}, \quad \mathcal{D}(D^*) = \{\omega \in H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^2) : \boldsymbol{\sigma}.n\omega = \omega \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}, \\ Q = TH_0T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D^* \\ D & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and $\mathcal{D}(Q) = \mathcal{D}(D) \oplus \mathcal{D}(D^*) = T\mathcal{D}(H_0)$. The following result implies proposition 1.3.

Proposition 2.7. The operator $(H_0, \mathcal{D}(H_0))$ is self-adjoint and there exists a nondecreasing sequence of eigenvalues $(\lambda_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset (m, +\infty)$ which tends to infinity such that:

$$\sigma(H_0) = \{\ldots, -\lambda_2, -\lambda_1\} \cup \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots\},\$$

 D^* is the adjoint of D and inversely. We have for each n:

$$\lambda_{MIT}^{n}(\Omega) = \lambda_{n} = \inf_{\substack{V \subset \mathcal{D}(D), \\ \dim V = k}} \sup_{\substack{\omega \in V, \\ \|\omega\|_{L^{2}} = 1}} \|D\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}.$$

Sketch of proof. The proof uses the spectral theory of self-adjoint compact operators and the ideas of the proof of theorem 2.3. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 2.8. Proposition 2.7 remains true in the symmetric case where $\mathcal{D}(D)$ and $\mathcal{D}(D^*)$ become

$$\mathcal{D}_{sym}(D) = \mathcal{D}(D) \cap H^1_{sym}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^2) \mathcal{D}_{sym}(D^*) = \mathcal{D}(D^*) \cap H^1_{sym}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^2).$$

3. AUXILIARY RESULTS

We study in this section, the dependance of the positive eigenvalue of H_{ϕ} on the field ϕ . This is an important point in this paper that will allow us to prove lower semi-continuity properties for the functionals involved in problems (1.5) and (1.6). To prove proposition 3.3 below, we will need the two following lemmas.

Lemma 3.1. Assume that (ϕ_n) converges to ϕ_{∞} strongly in $L^3(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$. Then, we have:

$$\|D_{\phi_n}\omega\|_{L^2}^2$$
 converges to $\|D_{\phi_\infty}\omega\|_{L^2}^2$

locally uniformly in $\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ i.e., for every R > 0:

$$\sup\{|\|D_{\phi_n}\omega\|_{L^2}^2 - \|D_{\phi_{\infty}}\omega\|_{L^2}^2| : \omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2), \|\omega\|_{H^1} \le R\} \underset{n \to \infty}{\to} 0.$$

Proof. We have

$$\|D_{\phi}\omega\|_{L^2}^2 = \|\nabla\omega\|_{L^2}^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (m+g\phi)^2 |\omega|^2 dx - 2g\mathcal{R}e \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} [\omega^*(\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega)\phi] dx.$$

By Hölder's inequality, we get:

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} [\omega^{*}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega)\phi_{n}] - [\omega^{*}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega)\phi_{\infty}]dx \right| \\ &\leq \|\omega^{*}\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega\|_{L^{3/2}} \|\phi_{n} - \phi_{\infty}\|_{L^{3}} \leq \|\omega\|_{L^{6}} \|\nabla\omega\|_{L^{2}} \|\phi_{n} - \phi_{\infty}\|_{L^{3}}, \\ &\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\omega|^{2}(\phi_{n} - \phi_{\infty})dx \right| \leq \|\omega\|_{L^{3}}^{2} \|\phi_{n} - \phi_{\infty}\|_{L^{3}}, \\ &\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\omega|^{2}(\phi_{n}^{2} - \phi_{\infty}^{2})dx \right| \leq \|\omega\|_{L^{6}}^{2} \|\phi_{n} - \phi_{\infty}\|_{L^{3}} (\|\phi_{n}\|_{L^{3}} + \|\phi_{\infty}\|_{L^{3}}). \end{split}$$

and

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\omega|^2 (\phi_n^2 - \phi_\infty^2) dx \right| \le \|\omega\|_{L^6}^2 \|\phi_n - \phi_\infty\|_{L^3} (\|\phi_n\|_{L^3} + \|\phi_\infty\|_{L^3})$$

The result follows.

Lemma 3.2. Let $\epsilon > 0$. The functional $\omega \mapsto \|D_{\phi}\omega\|_{L^2}^2$ is coercive on

$$\{\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2) : \|\omega\|_{L^2} = 1\}$$

locally uniformly in $\phi \in L^3 \cap L^{3+\epsilon}$ i.e., for every R > 0, there is a C > 0 such that $\|D_{\phi}\omega\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \ge \|\nabla\omega\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - C$

for
$$\omega \in \{\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2) : \|\omega\|_{L^2} = 1\}$$
 and ϕ such that $\|\phi\|_{L^3} + \|\phi\|_{L^{3+\epsilon}} \leq R$.

Proof. We have for $\omega \in \{\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2) : \|\omega\|_{L^2} = 1\}$

 $\|D_{\phi}\omega\|_{L^2}^2 \ge$

$$\|\nabla \omega\|_{L^2}^2 + m^2 - 2g\|\omega\|_{L^p} \|\nabla \omega\|_{L^2} \|\phi\|_{L^{3+\epsilon}} - 2gm\|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega\|_{L^6} \|\phi\|_{L^3},$$

where $p = \frac{6+2\epsilon}{1+\epsilon} \in (2,6)$. The Sobolev embedding $H^1 \hookrightarrow L^6$ and the interpolation inequalities give us the result.

Proposition 3.3. Let $\epsilon > 0$. Assume that a sequence (ϕ_n) converges to ϕ_{∞} strongly in $L^3 \cap L^{3+\epsilon}$. If for $k \ge 1$,

(3.1)
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda^k (D_{\phi_n} {}^* D_{\phi_n}) < m^2$$

then, up to a subsequence, there exist orthonormal families :

$$(\omega_{\infty}^1,\ldots,\omega_{\infty}^k)$$
 and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $(\omega_n^1,\ldots,\omega_n^k)$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^2)$

such that:

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1) & \omega_{\infty}^{i}, \omega_{n}^{i} \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2}) \text{ for all } n, \\ (2) & \|D_{\phi_{n}}\omega_{n}^{i}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \lambda^{i}(D_{\phi_{n}}{}^{*}D_{\phi_{n}}) \text{ for all } n, \\ (3) & \|D_{\phi_{\infty}}\omega_{\infty}^{i}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \lambda^{i}(D_{\phi_{\infty}}{}^{*}D_{\phi_{\infty}}), \\ (4) & \lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda^{i}(D_{\phi_{n}}{}^{*}D_{\phi_{n}}) = \lambda^{i}(D_{\phi_{\infty}}{}^{*}D_{\phi_{\infty}}), \end{array}$$

(5) $\lim_{n\to\infty}\omega_n^i = \omega_\infty^i$ in H^1 , for all $1 \leq i \leq k$.

This proposition is true in the symmetric case too.

Proof. We will prove this by induction on k. Let $k \geq 1$, assume that all these properties are true for k - 1. Because of inequality (3.1) and theorem 2.3, there exist for all $n, \omega_n^k \in H^1$ such that $(\omega_n^1, \ldots, \omega_n^k)$ is orthonormal in L^2 and point (2) is satisfied. It turns out that (ω_n^k) is a bounded sequence of H^1 by lemma 3.2 and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|D_{\phi_n} \omega_n^k\|_{L^2}^2 - \|D_{\phi_\infty} \omega_n^k\|_{L^2}^2 = 0,$$

by lemma 3.1 because (ϕ_n) converges to ϕ_∞ in $L^3 \cap L^{3+\epsilon}$. Let us denote P_n^{k-1} and P_∞^{k-1} the orthogonal projector on

$$span(\omega_n^1,\ldots,\omega_n^{k-1})^{\perp}$$

and

$$span(\omega_{\infty}^1,\ldots,\omega_{\infty}^{k-1})^{\perp}.$$

Then, we have by point (5):

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} P_n^{k-1} \omega_n^k - P_\infty^{k-1} \omega_n^k = 0 \text{ in } H^1,$$

so,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|D_{\phi_{\infty}} \omega_n^k\|_{L^2}^2 - \|D_{\phi_{\infty}} P_{\infty}^{k-1} \omega_n^k\|_{L^2}^2 = 0.$$

Thus, we get that :

$$\lambda^k(D_{\phi_{\infty}}{}^*D_{\phi_{\infty}}) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \lambda^k(D_{\phi_n}{}^*D_{\phi_n}) < m^2$$

There exists $\tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^k \in span(\omega_{\infty}^1, \dots, \omega_{\infty}^{k-1})^{\perp}$ such that $\|\tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^k\|_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$\|D_{\phi_{\infty}}\tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^{k}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \lambda^{k}(D_{\phi_{\infty}}^{*}D_{\phi_{\infty}}),$$

so, by the same arguments, we get:

$$\begin{split} \| D_{\phi_{\infty}} \tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^{k} \|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \| D_{\phi_{\infty}} P_{n}^{k-1} \tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^{k} \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + o(1) \\ &= \| D_{\phi_{n}} P_{n}^{k-1} \tilde{\omega}_{\infty}^{k} \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + o(1), \end{split}$$

and

$$\lambda^{k}(D_{\phi_{\infty}}^{*}D_{\phi_{\infty}}) \geq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup \lambda^{k}(D_{\phi_{n}}^{*}D_{\phi_{n}}).$$

This gives us point (4). Moreover, $\left(\frac{P_{\infty}^{k-1}\omega_n^k}{\|P_{\infty}^{k-1}\omega_n^k\|_{L^2}}\right)$ is a minimizing sequence of :

$$\inf\{\|D_{\phi_{\infty}}\omega\|_{L^2}^2:\omega\in span(\omega_{\infty}^1,\ldots,\omega_{\infty}^{k-1})^{\perp}:\|\omega\|_{L^2}=1\}=\lambda^k(D_{\phi_{\infty}}*D_{\phi_{\infty}}).$$

Up to a subsequence, $\left(\frac{P_{\infty}^{k-1}\omega_n^k}{\|P_{\infty}^{k-1}\omega_n^k\|_{L^2}}\right)$ and (ω_n^k) converge in H^1 and we get points (3) and (5).

4. The symmetric case

4.1. Pre-compactness results.

4.1.1. The soliton bag. We show now the existence of a minimizer of problem (1.5).

Lemma 4.1. Let $1 \le k_1 \le \cdots \le k_N \le K$. Assume that:

$$0 < ls_K = \inf\left\{N\lambda_+^K(H_\phi) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla\phi|^2}{2} + U(\phi)\right] dx : \phi \in H^1_{rad}\right\} < Nm.$$

Then, there exists a minimizer $\phi \in H^1_{rad}$ of problem (1.5).

The pre-compactness of a minimizing sequence is obtained thanks to the compactness of the embeddings of $H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ into $L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$ for all $p \in (2,6)$ proven by Strauss [36] and generalized by Lions [24]. *Proof.* There exists a minimizing sequence $(\phi_n) \subset H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ of problem (1.5) such that:

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} N\lambda_+^K(H_{\phi_n}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla \phi_n|^2}{2} + U(\phi_n) \right] dx < Nm_2$$

so, by the non-negativeness of U and theorem 2.3, for all $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$:

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda^{k_i} (D_{\phi_n} * D_{\phi_n}) < m^2.$$

Because of (H2), (ϕ_n) is a bounded sequence of $H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$. By the compactness properties of the radial Sobolev spaces due to Strauss [36] and Lions [24], there exists $\phi_{\infty} \in H^1_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ such that, up to a subsequence, we have:

 $\phi_n \to \phi_\infty$ weakly in H^1 , a.a, strongly in L^p for 2 .

Thus, by proposition 3.3, up to another subsequence, we have:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda^i (D_{\phi_n} {}^* D_{\phi_n}) = \lambda^i (D_{\phi_\infty} {}^* D_{\phi_\infty}),$$

so,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \inf \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_{+}^{k_i}(H_{\phi_{n_k}}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla \phi_{n_k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{n_k}) \right] dx$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_{+}^{k_i}(H_{\phi_{\infty}}) + \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla \phi_{n_k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{n_k}) \right] dx$$

$$\ge \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_{+}^{k_i}(H_{\phi_{\infty}}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left[\frac{|\nabla \phi_{\infty}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{\infty}) \right] dx.$$

This ensures that ϕ_{∞} is a minimum of problem (1.5) and that (ϕ_{n_k}) tends to ϕ_{∞} strongly in H^1 .

4.1.2. The bag approximation. As in the previous part, we prove the existence of a minimizer of problem (1.6).

Lemma 4.2. Let $1 \le k_1 \le \cdots \le k_N \le K$. Assume that:

$$0 < lc_K = \inf \left\{ N\lambda_+^K(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \chi_\Omega \in BV_{rad} \right\} < Nm.$$

Then, there exists a minimizer $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV_{rad}$ of problem (1.6).

The arguments are very similar to the ones of lemma 4.1 and we give here only a sketch of proof to stress the differences.

Sketch of proof.

$$\chi_{\Omega} \in BV \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_{+}^{k_{i}}(H_{-\chi_{\Omega}}) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega|$$

is lower semi-continuous for the topology of L^1 thanks to the lower semicontinuity of

$$\phi \in BV \mapsto |\nabla \phi|(\mathbb{R}^3)$$

in the topology of L^1 and proposition 3.3. For the reader's convenience, we give in the appendix the proof of the compactness of some embeddings in the BV setting similar to the ones of Strauss [36] and Lions [24]. The pre-compactness of a minimizing sequence follows then from proposition A.2.

4.2. Euler-Lagrange equations. We get in the last section the existence of a ϕ which minimizes (1.5) or (1.6) for given $1 \leq k_1 \leq \cdots \leq k_N \leq K$. Thus, H_{ϕ} has at least k_N eigenvalues in (0, m) associated with normalized eigenvectors (ψ_1, \ldots, ψ_N) . It remains to shows that $(\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N, \phi)$ satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equations (1.1) or (1.3).

Lemma 4.3. Let $\epsilon > 0$ and $\phi \in L^{3+\epsilon}_{rad}$. Every eigenvalue of H_{ϕ} is simple.

Proof. Let $\lambda \in \sigma_p(H_{\phi})$, by a standard bootstrap argument, every associated eigenvector belongs to $W^{1,q}$ for any $q \geq 2$ and so to L^{∞} . As we work with functions of the form:

$$\psi(x) = \left(\begin{array}{c} v(r) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \\ iu(r) \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta \\ \sin \theta e^{i\varphi} \end{array} \right) \end{array} \right),$$

(u, v) is a solution of the following system of equation:

$$\begin{cases} v'(r) &= -(\lambda + m + g\phi(r))u(r), \\ u'(r) + \frac{2u(r)}{r} &= (\lambda - m - g\phi(r))v(r) \end{cases}$$

and satisfies:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} u(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} (\int_0^r s^2 v(s)(\lambda - m - g\phi(s)) ds), \\ v(r) = v(0) - \int_0^r u(s)(\lambda + m + g\phi(s)) ds \end{array} \right.$$

By a contraction mapping argument [2], the solution is uniquely determined by v(0). So the set of the eigenvectors of H_{ϕ} of eigenvalue λ is of dimension 1.

Lemma 4.4. Let $1 \le k_1 \le \cdots \le k_N \le K$. The functions $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N, \phi$ obtained by minimization of (1.5) satisfy the Euler-Lagrange equations (1.1) of the soliton bag model. The same is true for the bag approximation.

Proof. We give the proof only in the soliton case. For the bag approximation, the proof follows the same argument in the setting of set derivation (see [14, 16] for more details). Let $\lambda(H_{\phi}) \in (0, m)$ an eigenvalue of H_{ϕ} and $\phi' \in H^1_{rad}$, by Kato-Rellich theorem for the perturbation of the point spectra (see theorem (12.8) of [31]) and lemma 4.3, we have two analytic functions in a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of 0:

$$t \mapsto \lambda(H_{\phi+t\phi'})$$
 and $t \mapsto \psi_{\phi+t\phi'}$,

where for each $t \in \mathcal{U}$, $\lambda(H_{\phi+t\phi'})$ is a simple eigenvalue of $H_{\phi+t\phi'}$ and $\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}$ is an associated normalized eigenvector. Thus, we have, for each $t \in \mathcal{U}$:

$$\lambda(H_{\phi+t\phi'}) = (\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, H_{\phi+t\phi'}\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}),$$

so,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}\lambda(H_{\phi+t\phi'}) &= 2\mathcal{R}e(\frac{d}{dt}\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, H_{\phi+t\phi'}\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}) + g(\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, \beta\phi'\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}) \\ &= \lambda(H_{\phi+t\phi'})2\mathcal{R}e(\frac{d}{dt}\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, \psi_{\phi+t\phi'}) + g(\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, \beta\phi'\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}) \\ &= g(\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}, \beta\phi'\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}), \end{aligned}$$

because $\|\psi_{\phi+t\phi'}\|_{L^2} = 1$ for all $t \in \mathcal{U}$. This ensures that:

$$-\Delta\phi + U'(\phi) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} g\psi_i^*\beta\psi_i = 0,$$

and we get lemma 4.4.

This ends the proofs of theorems 1.6 and 1.11

5. The non-symmetric case

5.1. Pre-compactness results.

5.1.1. The soliton case. We will now focus on the existence of a ground state solution of equations (1.1) in the non-symmetric case. The concentration compactness method allows us to deal with the lack of compactness of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ thanks to the so-called concentration-compactness inequality. Nevertheless, the classical one [25] is not valid yet. In the following, we will introduce a different concentrationcompactness inequality to overcome this problem. We denote:

$$\mathcal{E}(\phi_1, \phi_2, t) = N \left(t \lambda_+^1 (H_{\phi_1})^2 + (1 - t) \lambda_+^1 (H_{\phi_2})^2 \right)^{1/2} \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_1|^2}{2} + U(\phi_1) \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_2|^2}{2} + U(\phi_2) \right) dx,$$

for $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ and $t \in [0, 1]$;

$$I(t) = \inf \{ \mathcal{E}(\phi_1, \phi_2, t) : \phi_1, \phi_2 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) \}.$$

The following lemma is related with the concentration compactness inequality.

Lemma 5.1. *I* is concave, I(0) = I(1),

$$I(t) \leq Nm$$
, for all $t \in [0,1]$

and the concentration-compactness inequality

$$I(t) \ge I(1), \text{ for all } t \in [0, 1]$$

is satisfied.

Proof. I is concave as an infimum of concave functions. The remaining follows noticing that:

$$\mathcal{E}(0,0,t) = Nm$$

 \Box We can now prove the existence of a minimizer of (1.5) thanks to the concentration compactness method and lemma 5.1.

19

Lemma 5.2. Let us assume that I(1) < Nm, then every minimizing sequence (ϕ_n) of

$$I(1) = \inf\{N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\frac{|\nabla\phi|^{2}}{2} + U(\phi)\right) dx : \phi \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R})\}$$

converges in H^1 to a minimum of problem (1.5), up to translation and extraction.

Proof. Let (ϕ_n) be a minimizing sequence such that:

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left(N\lambda_+^1(H_{\phi_n}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_n|^2}{2} + U(\phi_n) \right) dx \right) < Nm.$$

 (ϕ_n) is a bounded sequence in H^1 because of (H2) and

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda^1 (D_{\phi_n} * D_{\phi_n}) < m^2$$

We will now apply the concentration compactness method to get the result. We follow the presentation of Lewin [21] based on [22] (see also [25, 37]). Let us assume first that the sequence vanishes, then:

$$\phi_n \to 0$$
 strongly in L^p for $p \in (2,6)$,

and proposition 3.3 leads us to a contradiction. So, there exists a subsequence (n_k) , a sequence $(x_{n_k}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\phi_0 \in H^1 \setminus \{0\}$ such that:

$$\phi_{n_k}(\ldots - x_{n_k}) \rightharpoonup \phi_0$$
 weakly in H^1 .

We define (ω_{n_k}) a sequence of H^1 such that $\|\omega_{n_k}\|_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$\|D_{\phi_{n_k}}\omega_{n_k}\|_{L^2} = \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{n_k}}).$$

Up to extraction, there is $\omega_0 \in H^1$ such that:

$$\omega_{n_k}(\ldots - x_{n_k}) \rightharpoonup \omega_0$$
 weakly in H^1 .

Let (R_k) be an increasing sequence of \mathbb{R}^+ such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} R_k = \infty$, then, up to a subsequence, there exists

$$(\phi_{1,k}), (\phi_{2,k}), (\omega_{1,k}), (\omega_{2,k}) \subset H^1,$$

such that:

(1)
$$\begin{aligned} \|\omega_{n_k} - \omega_{1,k} - \omega_{2,k}\|_{H^1} \to 0, \\ \|\phi_{n_k} - \phi_{1,k} - \phi_{2,k}\|_{H^1} \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

- (2) $\begin{array}{l} \|\varphi_{n_k} \varphi_{1,k} \varphi_{2,k}\|_{H^1} \to 0, \\ \omega_{1,k}(\ . x_{n_k}) \to \omega_0 \\ \phi_{1,k}(\ . x_{n_k}) \to \phi_0 \end{array} \text{ weakly in } H^1, \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2,6), \end{array}$
- (3) $supp(\phi_{1,k}) \cup supp(\omega_{1,k}) \subset B(x_{n_k}, R_k),$ $supp(\phi_{2,k}) \cup supp(\omega_{2,k}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B(x_{n_k}, 2R_k).$

We get:

$$\begin{split} I(1) &= \liminf_{k \to +\infty} N \| D_{\phi_{n_k}} \omega_{n_k} \|_{L^2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{n_k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{n_k}) \right) dx \\ &\geq \liminf_{k \to +\infty} N \left\{ \| D_{\phi_{1,k}} \omega_{1,k} \|_{L^2}^2 + \| D_{\phi_{2,k}} \omega_{2,k} \|_{L^2}^2 \right\}^{1/2} \\ &\cdots + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{1,k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{1,k}) \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{2,k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{2,k}) \right) dx \\ &\geq \liminf_{k \to +\infty} N \left\{ \| \omega_0 \|_{L^2}^2 \lambda_+^1 (H_{\phi_0})^2 + (1 - \| \omega_0 \|_{L^2}^2) \lambda_+^1 (H_{\phi_{2,k}})^2 \right\}^{1/2} \\ &\cdots + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_0|^2}{2} + U(\phi_0) \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{2,k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{2,k}) \right) dx \\ &\geq I(\| \omega_0 \|_{L^2}^2). \end{split}$$

Since $\phi_0 \neq 0$, ω_0 has to be non zero. Assume now that $\|\omega_0\|_{L^2} \in (0, 1)$. Lemma 5.1 ensures that :

$$I(t) = I(1)$$
, for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

We must have:

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{2,k}}) = \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_0}).$$

If not, assume for instance that there exists a another subsequence such that:

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda^{1}_{+}(H_{\phi_{2,k}}) > \lambda^{1}_{+}(H_{\phi_{0}}),$$

then,

$$I(1) = \liminf_{k \to +\infty} \mathcal{E}(\phi_0, \phi_{2,k}, \|\omega_0\|_{L^2}^2)$$

>
$$\liminf_{k \to +\infty} \mathcal{E}(\phi_0, \phi_{2,k}, 1)$$

>
$$I(1).$$

This is impossible. The same argument leads to a contradiction with:

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{2,k}}) < \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_0}).$$

Thus, we get:

$$I(1) = \liminf_{k \to +\infty} N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi_{0}})$$

...+ $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{0}|^{2}}{2} + U(\phi_{0}) \right) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{2,k}|^{2}}{2} + U(\phi_{2,k}) \right) dx$

and

$$\liminf_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{2,k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{2,k}) \right) dx = 0.$$

By proposition 3.3, we get the contradiction:

$$m = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{2,k}}) = \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_0}).$$

Thus, we have $\|\omega_0\|_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$\liminf_{k \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi_{2,k}|^2}{2} + U(\phi_{2,k}) \right) dx = 0.$$

The result follows.

5.1.2. *The bag approximation.* We follow exactly the same ideas. Let us introduce some notations:

$$\mathcal{F}(\chi_{\Omega_1}, \chi_{\Omega_2} t) = N \left(t \lambda_+^1 (H_{-\chi_{\Omega_1}})^2 + (1-t) \lambda_+^1 (H_{-\chi_{\Omega_2}})^2 \right)^{1/2} \cdots + a P(\Omega_1) + b |\Omega_1| + a P(\Omega_2) + b |\Omega_2|,$$

for $\chi_{\Omega_1}, \chi_{\Omega_2} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ and $t \in [0, 1]$;

$$J(t) = \inf \{ \mathcal{F}(\chi_{\Omega_1}, \chi_{\Omega_2} t) : \chi_{\Omega_1}, \chi_{\Omega_2} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}) \}.$$

Lemma 5.3. *J* is concave, J(0) = J(1),

$$J(t) \leq Nm$$
, for all $t \in [0,1]$

and the concentration-compactness inequality

$$J(t) \ge J(1), \text{ for all } t \in [0, 1]$$

is satisfied.

Sketch of proof. The proof is similar to the one of lemma 5.1.

Lemma 5.4. Let us assume that J(1) < Nm, then for every minimizing sequence (χ_{Ω_n}) of

$$J(1) = \inf\{N\lambda^1_+(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \ \chi_\Omega \in BV\}$$

converges strongly in BV to a minimum of (1.6) up to translation and extraction.

Sketch of proof. The proof is similar to the one of the soliton case. For the reader's convenience, we give in the appendix the straightforward adaptation of the presentation of the concentration compactness method of Lewin [21] to the BV setting.

5.2. Euler-Lagrange equations. As in the symmetric case, it remains to show that the minimizer satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equations.

Lemma 5.5. Let $\phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ and a normalized $\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ be such that

$$I(1) = N \| D_{\phi} \omega \|_{L^2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\frac{|\nabla \phi|^2}{2} + U(\phi) \right) dx$$

then,

$$-\Delta\phi + U'(\phi) + Ng\psi^*\beta\psi = 0,$$

where

$$\psi = (U_{FW}T)^* \left[\begin{array}{c} \omega \\ 0 \end{array} \right]$$

is an normalized eigenvector of H_{ϕ} associated with the smallest positive eigenvalue $\lambda = \|D_{\phi}\omega\|_{L^2}$.

Proof. We have:

$$-\Delta\phi + U'(\phi) + \frac{Ng}{\lambda} \mathcal{R}e\left[\omega^*(-iD_{\phi}\omega)\right] = 0,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi, \beta\psi) &= \left(U_{FW}^* \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)^* T\beta T^* \left(U_{FW}^* \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ S\omega \end{bmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \\ S\omega \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \mathcal{R}e \left[\omega^* (-iD_{\phi}\omega) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

The next lemma shows that the minimizers of (1.6) satisfy also Euler-Lagrange equations.

Lemma 5.6. Let $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ and normalized $\omega \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ be such that $J(1) = N \|D_{-\chi_{\Omega}}\omega\|_{L^2} + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega|,$

then,

$$a\mathcal{H}_{\Omega} + b - Ng\psi^*\beta\psi = 0, \ on \ \partial\Omega$$

where

$$\psi = (U_{FW}T)^* \left[\begin{array}{c} \omega \\ 0 \end{array} \right]$$

is an normalized eigenvector of $H_{-\chi_{\Omega}}$ associated with the smallest positive eigenvalue $\lambda = \|D_{-\chi_{\Omega}}\omega\|_{L^2}$.

Sketch of proof. We have:

$$a\mathcal{H} + b - \frac{Ng}{\lambda} \mathcal{R}e\left[\omega^*(-iD_{\phi}\omega)\right] = 0, \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

The arguments of the proof of the previous lemma gives the result. This ends the proofs of theorems 1.10 and 1.12.

6. GAMMA CONVERGENCE RESULTS

We give here the proof of proposition 1.13 based on [28, 3, 4, 35]: *Proof.* Let (ϵ_n) be a decreasing sequence converging to 0 and (ϕ_n) be such that:

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \phi_n = \phi & \text{in } L^p \text{ for all } p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}],\\ \lim_{n \to +\infty} E_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) & \text{exists and is finite.} \end{cases}$$

Up to extraction, we can assume that (ϕ_n) tends to ϕ almost everywhere. $(\phi_n) \subset H^1$ is a bounded sequence in L^2 and

$$\liminf_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} W(\phi_n) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} W(\phi) dx = 0.$$

So, there exists a subset Ω of \mathbb{R}^3 such that $\phi = -\chi_{\Omega}$ and $|\Omega| = ||\phi||_{L^2}^2 < +\infty$. Moreover, we have for all n by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\epsilon_n |\nabla \phi_n|^2 + W(\phi_n)/\epsilon_n \right) dx \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} 2|\nabla \phi_n| \sqrt{W(\phi_n)} dx = |\nabla (\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)|(\mathbb{R}^3),$$

where $\mathcal{W}(t) = 2 \int_0^t \sqrt{W(s)} ds$ and $|\nabla w|(\mathcal{A})$ denotes the variation of $w \in L^1$ on the Borel set \mathcal{A} . Since, there is C > 0 such that:

$$\mathcal{W}(t) \le C(|t|^2 + |t|^{\frac{q+2}{2}}) \ \forall t,$$

23

 $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)$ is bounded in BV, converges to $\mathcal{W} \circ \phi$ in L^p for all $p \in [1, 3/2]$. Thus, we get:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{W} \circ \phi = a\chi_{\Omega} \in BV, \ \phi = -\chi_{\Omega} \in BV, \\ \liminf_{n \to +\infty} |\nabla(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)|(\mathbb{R}^3) \ge |\nabla(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi)|(\mathbb{R}^3) = aP(\Omega), \end{cases}$$

so,

$$\liminf_{n \to +\infty} E_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) \ge E_0(\phi)$$

and

 $\left(\Gamma - \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} E_{\epsilon}\right)(\phi) \ge E_0(\phi).$

It remains to construct recovering sequences. For R > 0 and every $\tilde{\Omega} \subset B(0, R)$ such that $\chi_{\tilde{\Omega}} \in BV$, Sternberg [35] constructs a sequence $(\phi_{\epsilon}) \subset H_0^1(B(0, R))$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} (\phi_{\epsilon}) \text{ converges to } -\chi_{\tilde{\Omega}} \text{ in } L^{1}(B(0,R)), \\ \|\phi_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 1 \text{ for all } \epsilon > 0, \\ \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{B(0,R)} \left(\epsilon |\nabla \phi_{\epsilon}|^{2} + W(\phi_{\epsilon})/\epsilon\right) dx = aP(\tilde{\Omega}) \end{cases}$$

thus,

$$\left(\Gamma - \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} E_{\epsilon}\right) (-\chi_{\tilde{\Omega}}) \le E_0(-\chi_{\tilde{\Omega}}).$$

For every $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV$, we have

 $(\chi_{\Omega \cap B(0,R)})_{R>0} \subset BV \text{ tends to } \chi_{\Omega} \text{ in } L^p \text{ for all } p \in [1, +\infty),$ $(|\nabla \chi_{\Omega \cap B(0,R)}|(\mathbb{R}^3)) \text{ tends to } |\nabla \chi_{\Omega}|(\mathbb{R}^3),$

 $\mathbf{so},$

$$\lim_{R \to +\infty} E_0(-\chi_{\Omega \cap B(0,R)}) = E_0(-\chi_{\Omega}).$$

Since the Γ -limit-sup is lower semi-continuous, we obtain:

$$\left(\Gamma - \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} E_{\epsilon} \right) (-\chi_{\Omega}) \leq \liminf_{R \to +\infty} \left(\Gamma - \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} E_{\epsilon}(-\chi_{\Omega \cap B(0,R)}) \right)$$
$$\leq \liminf_{R \to +\infty} E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega \cap B(0,R)})$$
$$\leq E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega}).$$

 \Box The following lemmas are part of the proof of theorem 1.14. We introduce for $\epsilon > 0$:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon} = \{ \phi \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R}) \cap L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R}) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{W(\phi)}{\epsilon} \leq Nm \}, \\ G_{\epsilon}(\phi) = \begin{cases} |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi|(\mathbb{R}^{3}) + b \|\phi\|_{L^{2}}^{2} & \text{if } \phi \in \mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon}, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and for $t \in [0, 1], \phi_1 \in \{-\chi_\Omega \in BV\}, \phi_2 \in \mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon},$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\epsilon}(\phi_{1},\phi_{2},t) = N \left\{ t\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi_{1}})^{2} + (1-t)\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi_{2}})^{2} \right\}^{1/2} + E_{0}(\phi_{1}) + G_{\epsilon}(\phi_{2})$$
$$J_{\epsilon}(t) = \inf\{\mathcal{F}_{\epsilon}(\phi_{1},\phi_{2},t): \phi_{1} \in \{-\chi_{\Omega} \in BV\}, \phi_{2} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon}\}$$

Lemma 6.1. We have for all $\epsilon > 0$, that J_{ϵ} is concave, continuous and

$$(6.1) 0 \le J_{\epsilon}(t) \le Nm$$

for all $t \in [0,1]$. There exists a concave function J_0 such that (J_{ϵ}) tends to J_0 pointwise in [0,1] as ϵ tends to 0 and

$$0 \le J_0(0) \le J_0(t),$$

for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

Proof. The same argument as in lemma 5.1 gives us inequality (6.1). J_{ϵ} is concave and continuous as an infimum of concave and continuous functions. (J_{ϵ}) is a non-increasing sequence since (\mathcal{Z}_{ϵ}) is non-decreasing sequence of sets. Hence, (J_{ϵ}) converges point-wise to a concave function J_0 in [0,1] as ϵ tends to 0. The remaining follows immediately.

The core of the proof of theorem 1.14 is given by the following lemma. We use here the concentration compactness method and the Γ -convergence theory.

Lemma 6.2. We have:

$$J_0(0) = J_0(1).$$

If $J_0(0) < Nm$ and for all n , there is $\phi_n \in \mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon_n}$ such that:
$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} N\lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_n}) + G_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) = J_0(0),$$

where (ϵ_n) is a sequence which tends to 0, then, up to a subsequence, up to translation.

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n \to \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_\Omega) \text{ strictly in } BV \\ \phi_n \to -\chi_\Omega \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}] \end{cases}$$

where $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV$.

Proof. If $J_0(0) = Nm$, then, $J_0(0) = J_0(1)$ by lemma 6.1. Thus, we can assume that $J_0(0) < Nm$. Let $\phi_n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\epsilon_n}$ be such that:

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} N\lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_n}) + G_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) = J_0(0).$$

We can assume that:

$$\sup N\lambda_+^1(H_{\phi_n}) + G_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) < Nm.$$

As in the proof of 1.13, (ϕ_n) is uniformly bounded in L^2 and

$$\sup_{n} |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n|(\mathbb{R}^3) < Nm.$$

By Sobolev embedding, $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)$ is a bounded sequence of $L^{3/2}$. Since there is a positive constant c > 0 such that:

$$\mathcal{W}(t) \ge c|t|^{\frac{q+2}{2}},$$

for all t, (ϕ_n) is bounded in $L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}}$ and by the interpolation inequalities in L^p for all $p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}]$. We get that $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)$ is uniformly bounded in BV.

Let us assume now that this sequence vanishes. Then, $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)$ tends to 0 in L^p for all $p \in (1, 3/2)$, so (ϕ_n) tends to 0 in L^p for all $p \in (2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4})$. Proposition 3.3 contradicts

$$J_0(0) < Nm.$$

Thus, up to a subsequence, there exist $(x_n) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} \in BV \setminus \{0\}$ such that $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n(. - x_n))$ tends to $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}$ in L^1_{loc} . Since for all n, ϕ_n belongs to \mathcal{Z}_{ϵ_n} , there exists χ_{Ω} such that $(\phi_n(. - x_n))$ tends to $-\chi_{\Omega}$ almost everywhere, up to another subsequence and $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} = \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_{\Omega}) = -a\chi_{\Omega} \in BV$.

For all n, there exists moreover $\omega_n \in H^1$ such that $\|\omega_n\|_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$||D_{\phi_n(..-x_n)}\omega_n||_{L^2} = \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_n})$$

By lemma 3.2, (ω_n) is uniformly bounded in H^1 . Up to a subsequence, (ω_n) tends to $\omega \in H^1$ in H^1 weakly.

Let $0 < R_k$ be a sequence such that (R_k) tends to $+\infty$. Then, by concentration compactness, there exist:

$$(\omega_{1,n}), (\omega_{2,n}) \subset H^1,$$

such that, up to a subsequence,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\omega_n - \omega_{1,n} - \omega_{2,n}\|_{H^1} &\to 0, \\ \omega_{1,n} \to \omega \text{ weakly in } H^1, \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2,6), \\ supp(\omega_{1,n}) \subset B(0, R_n), \\ supp(\omega_{2,n}) \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B(0, 2R_n) \end{aligned}$$

and

(6.2)
$$\begin{cases} \chi_{B(0,R_n)}(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n(. - x_n)) \text{ tends to } \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ in } L^p \text{ if } 1 \le p < 3/2, \\ \int_{R_n < |x| < 2R_n} (|\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n(. - x_n)| + |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n(. - x_n)|) dx \text{ tends to } 0. \end{cases}$$

We localize now the ϕ field. Let us define for all n

$$\phi_{1,n} = \phi_n \chi_{B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2})}, \ \phi_{2,n} = \phi_n \chi_{B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2})^c} \in \mathcal{Z}_{\epsilon_n}.$$

Then, following the same notation of theorem 3.84 of [1], we have that $\phi_{i,n}$ belongs to $BV(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ and

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_{1,n}|(\mathbb{R}^3) &= |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n| \left(B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2}) \right) + \int_{\partial B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2})} |(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)^+| ds, \\ |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_{2,n}|(\mathbb{R}^3) &= |\nabla \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n| \left(B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2})^c \right) + \int_{\partial B(x_n, \frac{3R_n}{2})} |(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n)^-| ds. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 3.86 of [1] ensures moreover that there exists a constant c>0 such that for all $w\in BV(\mathcal{A})$:

$$\int_{\partial B(0,\frac{3}{2})} |w^{\pm}| ds \le c \left(||w||_{L^{1}(\mathcal{A})} + |\nabla w|(\mathcal{A}) \right),$$

where $\mathcal{A} = B(0,2) \setminus B(0,1)$. By a rescaling argument, we get that for all R > 1, for all $w \in BV(\mathcal{A}_R)$:

$$\int_{\partial B(0,\frac{3R}{2})} |w^{\pm}| ds \leq c \left(||w||_{L^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{R})} / R + |\nabla w|(\mathcal{A}_{R}) \right)$$
$$\leq c \left(||w||_{L^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{R})} + |\nabla w|(\mathcal{A}_{R}) \right),$$

where $\mathcal{A}_R = B(0, 2R) \setminus B(0, R)$.

We obtain thanks to equations (6.2):

$$J_{0}(0) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} N \| D_{\phi_{n}(..-x_{n})} \omega_{n} \|_{L^{2}} + G_{\epsilon_{n}}(\phi_{n})$$

$$\geq \liminf_{n \to +\infty} N \left\{ \| D_{\phi_{1,n}(..-x_{n})} \omega_{n}^{1} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \| D_{\phi_{2,n}(..-x_{n})} \omega_{n}^{2} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$+ G_{\epsilon_{n}}(\phi_{1,n}) + G_{\epsilon_{n}}(\phi_{2,n})$$

$$\geq \liminf_{n \to +\infty} N \left\{ \| \omega \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \lambda_{+}^{1} (H_{-\chi_{\Omega}})^{2} + (1 - \| \omega \|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \lambda_{+}^{1} (H_{\phi_{2,n}})^{2} \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$+ E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega}) + G_{\epsilon_{n}}(\phi_{2,n})$$

$$\geq J_{0}(\| \omega \|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$

This imposes $\|\omega\|_{L^2} > 0$, otherwise, $J_0(0) \ge c + J_0(0)$ with c > 0. If $\|\omega\|_{L^2} \in (0,1)$, then we have by lemma 6.1:

$$J_0(t) = J_0(0),$$

for all $t \in [0, 1]$. As in the proof of lemma 5.2, we have:

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{2,n}}) = \lambda^1_+(H_{-\chi_\Omega})$$

and we must have:

$$\liminf_{n \to +\infty} G_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_{2,n}) = 0,$$

so, we get the contradiction:

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \lambda^1_+(H_{\phi_{2,n}}) = m = \lambda^1_+(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) < m.$$

Thus, we obtain that $\|\omega\|_{L^2} = 1$ and

$$\liminf_{n \to +\infty} G_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_{2,n}) = 0$$

so that,

$$\begin{array}{l} \left[\mathcal{W} \circ [\phi_n(\ . \ -x_n)] \to \mathcal{W} \circ (-\chi_{\Omega}) \text{ strictly in } BV \\ \phi_n(\ . \ -x_n) \to -\chi_{\Omega} \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for } p \in [2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}] \end{array} \right]$$

and

$$J_0(0) = J_0(1) = N\lambda_+^1(H_{-\chi_\Omega}) + E_0(-\chi_\Omega).$$

Let us write the proof of theorem 1.14 which follows from proposition 1.13 and the previous lemmas. *Proof.* The first part of the theorem follows from proposition 3.3 and the fact that the Γ -convergence remains true if we add continuous functions.

We assume next that:

$$J_0(1) < Nm.$$

Lemma 5.4 ensures that there exists $-\chi_{\Omega} \in BV$ such that:

$$N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{-\chi_{\Omega}}) + E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega}) = J_{0}(1).$$

By proposition 1.13, there is a sequence $(\phi_{\epsilon}) \subset H^1$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} E_{\epsilon}(\phi_{\epsilon}) \leq E_{0}(-\chi_{\Omega}), \\ \phi_{\epsilon} \to -\chi_{\Omega}, \text{ in } L^{2} \cap L^{\frac{3(q+2)}{4}} \end{cases}$$

Thus, we get:

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} l_s^{\epsilon} \le \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} N\lambda_+^1(H_{\phi_{\epsilon}}) + E_{\epsilon}(\phi_{\epsilon}) \le J_0(1) < Nm.$$

There exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$,

$$l_s^{\epsilon} < Nm,$$

and by lemma 5.2, there is $\phi_{\epsilon} \in H^1$ such that:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\epsilon}(\phi_{\epsilon}) = l_s^{\epsilon}.$$

We have:

$$J_{0}(1) \geq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} l_{s}^{\epsilon},$$

$$\geq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{\phi_{\epsilon}}) + G_{\epsilon}(\phi_{\epsilon}),$$

$$\geq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} J_{\epsilon}(0) = J_{0}(1),$$

and lemma 6.2 concludes the proof. \Box We write now the proof of theorem 1.18. *Proof.* Just as in the proof of theorem 1.14, the Γ - convergence follows from proposition 3.3 and

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} l_s^{\epsilon}(k_1, \dots, k_N) \le \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0} l_s^{\epsilon}(K, \dots, K) \le l_c(K, \dots, K) < Nm.$$

Lemma 5.2 ensures that there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$, problem (1.9) has a minimum $\phi_{\epsilon} \in BV_{rad}$. We get that $(\mathcal{W} \circ \phi_{\epsilon})$ is bounded in BV and (ϕ_{ϵ}) in L^2 . So by proposition A.2, there exists a subsequence (ϵ_n) and $\phi = -\chi_{\Omega} \in BV$ such that:

 $\begin{cases} \mathcal{W} \circ \phi_n \to \mathcal{W} \circ \phi \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for all } p \in (1, 3/2) \text{ and } a.a, \\ \phi_n \to \phi \text{ strongly in } L^p \text{ for all } p \in (2, \frac{3(q+2)}{4}). \end{cases}$

By proposition 3.3, we have

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{n \to} & \mathcal{E}_{\epsilon_n, k_1, \dots, k_N}(\phi_n) \\ & \geq \sum_{i=1}^N \lambda_+^{k_i}(H_\phi) \quad + \liminf_{n \to +\infty} E_{\epsilon_n}(\phi_n) \\ & \geq \mathcal{E}_{0, k_1, \dots, k_N}(\phi). \end{split}$$

Thus, we get the conclusion of the theorem.

7. The M.I.T. bag limit

We give here the proofs of theorem 1.20 and proposition 1.19.

Lemma 7.1. Let $\chi_{\Omega} \in BV(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R})$ and 0 < m < M. We have for $\omega \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2})$: $\| - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega + (m\chi_{\Omega} + M\chi_{\Omega^{c}}) \omega \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} =$ $\| \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + m^{2} \| \omega \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + M^{2} \| \omega \|_{L^{2}(\Omega^{c})}^{2} + (M - m) \int_{\partial \Omega} \omega^{*}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot n) \omega dz$

There is C > 0 such that:

$$C\| - \boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega + (m\chi_{\Omega} + M\chi_{\Omega^{c}})\omega\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \geq \frac{1}{M}\|\nabla\omega\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + M\|\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega^{c})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2},$$

C depends neither on Ω nor on ω .

Proof. Let $c_1, c_2 > 0$, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \| - c_1 \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega + c_2 \omega \|_{L^2(\Omega^c)}^2 &= c_1^2 \| \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega \|_{L^2(\Omega^c)}^2 + c_2^2 \| \omega \|_{L^2(\Omega^c)}^2 \\ & \cdots - c_1 c_2 \int_{\partial \Omega} \omega^*(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot n) \omega dz. \end{aligned}$$

So, we get:

$$2\| - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega + (m\chi_{\Omega} + M\chi_{\Omega^{c}}) \omega\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}$$

$$\geq \frac{2Mm - m^{2}}{M^{2}} \|\nabla \omega\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + m^{2} \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + 2Mm \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega^{c})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$

Lemma 7.2. For any C > 0, there exists a constant $c_0 > 0$ such that if ω belongs to $H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$ and satisfies:

$$C \geq \frac{1}{M} \|\nabla \omega\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} + M \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(B(0,R)^{c})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla \omega\|_{L^{2}(B(0,R))}^{2} + \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(B(0,R))}^{2},$$

for M > m and R > 0, then,

$$\|\omega\|_{L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le c_0.$$

 c_0 does not depend on M, R or ω .

Proof. Let $\omega \in H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$,

$$\omega(x) = v(r) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + u(r) \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\theta)\\ \sin(\theta)e^{i\varphi} \end{pmatrix}$$

where (r, θ, φ) are the spherical coordinates of x. We have:

$$\|\nabla \omega\|_{L^2(B(0,R))}^2 = 4\pi \int_0^R \left[|u'(r)|^2 + \frac{2|u(r)|^2}{r^2} + |v'(r)|^2 \right] r^2 dr$$

and

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega\|_{L^{2}(B(0,R))}^{2} = 4\pi \int_{0}^{R} \left[\left| u'(r) + \frac{2u(r)}{r} \right|^{2} + |v'(r)|^{2} \right] r^{2} dr.$$

Since,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^R |u'(s) + \frac{2u(s)}{s}|^2 s^2 ds \\ &= \int_0^R \left[|u'(s)|^2 s^2 + 4|u(s)|^2 + 4u(s)u'(s)s \right] ds \\ &= \int_0^R \left[|u'(s)|^2 s^2 + 4|u(s)|^2 - 2|u(s)|^2 \right] ds + 2R|u(R)|^2 \\ &\geq \int_0^R \left[|u'(s)|^2 s^2 + 2|u(s)|^2 \right] ds \end{split}$$

we get:

$$\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega\|^2_{L^2(B(0,R))} \ge \|\nabla\omega\|^2_{L^2(B(0,R))}.$$

Let us remark that this inequality is wrong when the domain is an annulus and $u(r) = 1/r^2$.

Hence, we obtain:

$$\int_{B(0,R)} |\nabla|\omega|^2 |dx \le \|\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega\|_{L^2(B(0,R))}^2 + \|\omega\|_{L^2(B(0,R))}^2 \le C$$

and

$$\int_{B(0,R)^c} |\nabla|\omega|^2 |dx \le \frac{1}{M} \|\nabla\omega\|_{L^2(B(0,R)^c)}^2 + M\|\omega\|_{L^2(B(0,R)^c)}^2 \le C$$

By Sobolev injection, we get the result.

We are now able to give the proof of theorem 1.20. *Proof.* Lemma 2.6 and the arguments of the proof of theorem 1.11 ensure that there exist C_0 , $n_0 > 0$, for $n \ge n_0$, a radius $R_n > 0$ minimizing

$$\inf \left\{ N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{B(0,R)}^{n}) + aP(B(0,R)) : R > 0 \right\},\$$

L. LE TREUST

a function

$$\psi_n(x) = \begin{pmatrix} v_n(r) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \\ iu_n(r) \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta\\\sin\theta e^{i\varphi} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \in H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$$

satisfying:

$$\begin{cases} H_{B(0,R_n)}^n \psi_n &= \lambda_+^1 (H_{B(0,R)}^n) \psi_n \\ \|\psi_n\|_{L^2} &= 1 \end{cases}$$

where $H_{\Omega}^{n} = -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + \beta (m\chi_{\Omega} + M_{n}\chi_{\Omega^{c}})$ and

$$N\lambda_{+}^{1}(H_{B(0,R_{n})}^{n}) + aP(B(0,R_{n})) \le C_{0}.$$

 (R_n) is bounded, so there exists a subsequence (n_k) and $R \ge 0$ such that

$$R_{n_k} \to R$$

We claim that R > 0. Indeed, there is for all n, a function $\omega_n \in H^1_{sym}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} \| -\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \nabla \omega_n + (m\chi_{B(0,R_n)} + M\chi_{B(0,R_n)^c})\omega_n \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 = \lambda_+^1 (H_{B(0,R_n)}^n)^2 \\ \| \omega_n \|_{L^2} = 1. \end{cases}$$

Lemmas 7.1 and 7.2 ensure that (ω_{n_k}) is a bounded sequence in $L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$, such that:

$$\|\omega_{n_k}\|_{L^2(B(0,R_{n_k})^c)} \to 0,$$

so, R has to be positif.

We denote $\lambda_n := \lambda_+^1(H_{B(0,R)}^n)$. (λ_n) is a bounded sequence of $(m, +\infty)$ so, up to a subsequence, we can assume that it converges to $\lambda \in [m, +\infty)$. (u_n, v_n) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} u'_n(r) + \frac{2u_n(r)}{r} &= -(m - \lambda_n)v_n(r) \\ v'_n(r) &= -(m + \lambda_n)u_n(r) \end{cases}$$

for $r \in (0, R)$ and

$$\|\psi_n\|_{L^2(B(0,R_n)^c)} \le \frac{C_0}{M_n}$$

We get:

$$\begin{cases} r^2 u_n''(r) + 2r u_n'(r) - (r^2(m^2 - \lambda_n^2) + 2)u_n(r) &= 0\\ r^2 v_n''(r) + 2r v_n'(r) - r^2(m^2 - \lambda_n^2)v_n(r) &= 0. \end{cases}$$

So, u_n and v_n are spherical Bessel functions on $(0, R_n)$, they have to be of the first kind to belong to L^2 . Thus, (u_n, v_n) is proportional to

$$r\mapsto \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r)}{(\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r)^2} - \frac{\cos(\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r)}{\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r}\\ \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_n^2+m^2}{\lambda_n^2-m^2}}\frac{\sin(\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r)}{\sqrt{\lambda_n^2-m^2}r}\end{array}\right)$$

on $(0, R_n)$. We also get that (u_n, v_n) is proportional to

$$r \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1+\sqrt{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2 r}}{(\sqrt{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2 r})^2} exp(-\sqrt{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2}r) \\ \sqrt{\frac{M_n^2+\lambda_n^2}{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2}} \frac{exp(-\sqrt{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2}r)}{\sqrt{M_n^2-\lambda_n^2 r}} \end{pmatrix}$$

 $\mathbf{so},$

$$\frac{u_n(R_n)}{v_n(R_n)} \to 1$$

We finally get that (u_n, v_n) converges uniformly to a function (u, v) on

$$[0,+\infty)\backslash(R-\epsilon,R+\epsilon)$$

for any $\epsilon > 0$ where

$$\begin{cases} u'(r) + \frac{2u(r)}{r} &= -(m-\lambda)v(r)\\ v'(r) &= -(m+\lambda)u(r) \end{cases}$$

on $(0,R],\,u(r)=v(r)=0$ on $(R,+\infty)$ and

$$u(R) = v(R)$$

It remains to prove that $\lambda = \lambda_{MIT}^1(B(0,R))$. Let R > 0 the radius of the ball B(0,R) that minimizes

$$\inf \left\{ N\lambda_{MIT}^{1}(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) : \Omega \in \mathcal{A} \right\}$$

and $\omega \in H^1_{sym}(B(0,R),\mathbb{C}^2)$ be an normalized function satisfying

$$\lambda_{MIT}^1(B(0,R)) = \|D\omega\|_{L^2}$$

and

$$\omega(x) = c \left(\begin{array}{c} \cos(\theta) - 1 \\ \sin(\theta) e^{i\varphi} \end{array} \right)$$

where (r, θ, φ) are the spherical coordinates of |x| = R. We set

$$\omega_n(x) = c_n \begin{cases} c \left(\begin{array}{c} \cos(\theta) - 1\\ \sin(\theta)e^{i\varphi} \end{array} \right) exp(-M_n(r-R)) & \text{for } x \in B(0,R)^c \\ w(x) & \text{for } x \in B(0,R) \end{cases}$$

where ω_n is normalized by c_n . We get:

$$\|-\boldsymbol{\sigma}.\nabla\omega_n + M_n\omega_n\|_{L^2(B(0,R)^c)}^2 \to 0$$

and the result follows.

Let us now prove proposition 1.19. Proof. Let us first remark that:

$$\inf \left\{ N\lambda_{MIT}^{1}(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \Omega \in \mathcal{A} \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ N\lambda_{MIT}^{1}(\Omega) + aP(\Omega) + b|\Omega| : \Omega \in \mathcal{B} \right\}$$

where \mathcal{B} is composed of the connected components of \mathcal{A} . We will now show that the M.I.T. bag energy is better on a ball than on a ring whenever a > 0 and b = 0. Let $0 < R_{-} < R_{+}$, $0 < \epsilon$. We denote:

$$\begin{split} \Omega &= B(0,R_+) \backslash B(0,R_-) \\ \Omega_\epsilon &= B(0,R_+) \backslash B(0,R_-+\epsilon). \end{split}$$

Let $\omega \in H^1_{sym}(\Omega, \mathbb{C}^2)$ such that:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \|D\omega\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = \lambda^1_{MIT}(\Omega) \\ -\boldsymbol{\sigma}.n\omega = \omega \text{ on } \partial\Omega \\ \|\omega\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = 1 \end{array} \right.$$

and

$$\omega(x) = v(r) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + u(r) \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\theta)\\ \sin(\theta)e^{i\varphi} \end{pmatrix}$$

where (r, θ, φ) are the spherical coordinates of x. We introduce now g(s) = as + b with

$$a = \frac{R_+ - R_- - \epsilon}{R_+ - R_-}, \ b = \frac{\epsilon R_+}{R_+ - R_-}$$

and

$$\widetilde{\omega}(\frac{x}{|x|}g(|x|)) = \omega(x).$$

We get:

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \omega\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= 4\pi \int_{R_{-}}^{R_{+}} [|v'(s)|^{2} + |u'(s)|^{2} + 2|u(s)|^{2}/s^{2}]s^{2}ds \\ &= 4\pi \int_{R_{-}}^{R_{+}} [|\tilde{v}'(r)|^{2} + |\tilde{u}'(r)|^{2} + 2\frac{|\tilde{u}(r)|^{2}}{(r-b)^{2}}]\frac{(r-b)^{2}}{a}dr \\ &= \|\nabla \tilde{\omega}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{\epsilon})}^{2} - \epsilon c_{1} + o(\epsilon), \\ \|\omega\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Omega)}^{2} &= \int_{\partial B(0,R_{+})} |\omega|^{2} + \int_{\partial B(0,R_{-})} |\omega|^{2} \\ &= \|\tilde{\omega}\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Omega_{\epsilon})}^{2} - \epsilon c_{2} + o(\epsilon), \end{split}$$

and

$$\lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega)^2 = \|D\omega\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$$
$$= \|\nabla\omega\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + m\|\omega\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega)}^2 + m^2 = \frac{\|D\widetilde{\omega}\|_{L^2(\Omega_{\epsilon})}^2}{\|\widetilde{\omega}\|_{L^2(\Omega_{\epsilon})}^2} - \epsilon c + o(\epsilon)$$

where $c_1, c_2, c > 0$. We obtain:

$$\lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega)^2 \ge \lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega_\epsilon)^2 - \epsilon c + o(\epsilon).$$

This ensures that :

$$\lambda^1_{MIT}(\Omega) > \lambda^1_{MIT}(\Omega_\epsilon)$$

for all $-R_- < \epsilon < 0$ so that

$$\lambda^1_{MIT}(B(0,R_+)\backslash B(0,R_-))>\lambda^1_{MIT}(B(0,R_+))$$

A scaling argument shows that $R\mapsto \lambda^1_{MIT}(B(0,R))$ is a convex decreasing function such that

$$\left\{\begin{array}{l} \lim_{R \to +\infty} \lambda^1_{MIT}(B(0,R)) = m, \\ \lim_{R \to 0} \lambda^1_{MIT}(B(0,R)) = +\infty. \end{array}\right.$$

We get the last part of the result. It remains to show that a minimizer exists in all cases. Let $(\Omega_n) \subset \mathcal{B}$ be a minimizing sequence. Up to extraction, we can already assume that (χ_{Ω_n}) tends to χ_{Ω} in L^1 and $\lambda^1_{MIT}(\Omega_n)$ tends to λ . For each n, there exists $\omega_n \in H^1(\Omega_n, \mathbb{C}^2)$ such that:

$$\begin{cases} \|D\omega_n\|_{L^2(\Omega_n)} = \lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega_n) \\ -\boldsymbol{\sigma}.n\omega_n = \omega_n \text{ on } \partial\Omega_n \\ \|\omega_n\|_{L^2(\Omega_n)} = 1. \end{cases}$$

Since

$$||D\omega_n||^2_{L^2(\Omega_n)} = ||\nabla\omega_n||^2_{L^2(\Omega_n)} + m||\omega_n||^2_{L^2(\partial\Omega_n)} + m^2$$

we get:

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla|\omega_n\chi_{\Omega_n}|^2|(\mathbb{R}^3) &\leq \|\omega_n\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega_n)}^2 + \int_{\Omega_n} 2|\omega_n||\nabla\omega_n|dx\\ &\leq \|\omega_n\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega_n)}^2 + \int_{\Omega_n} (|\omega_n|^2 + |\nabla\omega_n|^2)dx \end{aligned}$$

so that $(|\omega_n \chi_{\Omega_n}|^2)$ is a bounded sequence in $BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. By Sobolev injection, $(\omega_n \chi_{\Omega_n})$ is bounded in $L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\chi_{\Omega} \neq 0$. Using the spherical Bessel functions, as in the proof of theorem 1.20, we get that $\lambda = \lambda_{MIT}^1(\Omega)$, so Ω is a minimum. \Box

APPENDIX A. A COMPACTNESS RESULT FOR BOUNDED VARIATION FUNCTIONS WITH SYMMETRY

Whereas the embedding of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for N > 2 and $p \in [2, \frac{2N}{N-2}]$ is not compact, Strauss [36] showed that the restrictions of these embeddings to radial functions are compact for $p \in (2, \frac{2N}{N-2})$. This result has been generalized by Lions [24] to other Sobolev spaces.

The adaptation of the proofs of Lions to the BV setting is straightforward and is given here for the reader's convenience. We denote $BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ the subset of $BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of radial functions where $N \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. The following lemma gives a control of the decay at infinity of the radial BV functions.

Lemma A.1. Let N > 1, $u \in BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, then we have:

$$|u(x)| \le \left\{ |\nabla u|(\mathbb{R}^N)|x|^{-(N-1)} \right\} \ a.a. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Proof. For all $u \in BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, there exists a sequence $(u_n) \subset BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that u_n converges strictly in BV and almost everywhere to u (see for instance [3, 1]). So, we just have to show the lemma for $u \in BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We denote u(x) = u(r), and we have:

$$\frac{d}{dr}(r^{N-1}|u|) = \frac{u}{|u|}\frac{du}{dr}r^{N-1} + |u|(N-1)r^{N-2},$$

and

$$^{N-1}|u| = -\int_r^{+\infty} \frac{d}{dr}(s^{N-1}|u|) \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u| dx.$$

Sickel, Skrzypczak and Vybiral [34] studied the properties of radial functions of Besov, Lizorkin-Triebel and BV spaces, generalizing the estimates of this type given by Lions and Strauss. The proof of these inequalities is the first step to get the compactness of the embedding of the following proposition.

Proposition A.2. Let N > 1 and denote $1^* = N/(N-1)$, then the restriction to $BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of the embedding $BV(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is compact if $p \in (1, 1^*)$.

Proof. Let (u_n) be a bounded sequence in $BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Up to extraction, there exists a function u belonging to $BV_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that (u_n) tends to u in L^p_{loc} for $p \in (1, 1^*)$. Moreover, for R > 0, we have:

$$\|u_n - u\|_{L^p(\{|x|>R\})} \le \left(|\nabla u|(\mathbb{R}^N) + |\nabla u_n|(\mathbb{R}^N)\right)^{p-1} \|u - u_n\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)} R^{-(N-1)(p-1)},$$

by lemma A.1. The result follows immediately.

Appendix B. The locally compact case of the concentration compactness method in the BV setting

A general version of the concentration compactness method can be found in the papers of Lions (see for instance [25]) or the book of Struwe [37]. Nevertheless, in this paper, we just need the concentration compactness in a simpler setting: we study bounded sequences of functions in BV, so that, the loss of compactness can just come from the action of the group of translations. Thus, for the reader's convenience, we give in this part, a straightforward adaptation to BV of the presentation of Lewin [21] based on the papers of Lions [25] and Lieb [22].

The concentraction compactness method has already been used in the BV setting, for instance, by Fusco [13] for Sobolev inequalities in BV and by Bucur and Giacomini [5] for the isoperimetric inequality for the Robin eigenvalue problem. But, they both used the arguments of Lions and Struwe.

Let N > 2. We begin by defining the highest mass that the limit of translated subsequence can have.

Definition B.1. Let (u_n) be a bounded sequence in $BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we denote:

$$m(u_n) = \sup\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u| dx : \exists (x_{n_k}) \subset \mathbb{R}^N, u_{n_k}(. - x_{n_k}) \to u \in BV(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ in } L^1_{loc}\right\}.$$

The following lemma is related with the vanishing of a sequence.

Lemma B.2. Let (u_n) be a bounded sequence in $BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$, we have equivalence between the following points:

- $(1) \ m(u_n) = 0,$
- (2) for all R > 0, $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{B(x,R)} |u_n| = 0$,
- (3) $u_n \to 0$ strongly in L^p for $p \in (1, 1^*)$,

where $1^* = N/(N-1)$.

Proof. Let us assume that (1) is true. Let R > 0 and $(x_n) \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ such that:

$$\int_{B(x_n,R)} |u_n| dx \ge \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^N} \int_{B(x,R)} |u_n| dx - 1/n.$$

 $(u_n(. -x_n))$ is still a bounded sequence in $BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Since $m(u_n(. -x_n)) = 0$, we get that $(u_n(. -x_n))$ converges to 0 in L^1_{loc} and (2) follows.

Let us assume (3). Let $(x_{n_k}) \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ such that

$$u_{n_k}(. - x_{n_k}) \to u \in BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$$
 in L^1_{loc} and a.a.

We have:

$$||u_{n_k}(. - x_{n_k})||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)} = ||u_{n_k}||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0,$$

for all $p \in (1, 1^*)$. We immediately get that u = 0.

Let (2) be true. We denote $\mathbb{R}^N = \bigcup_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^N} C_z$ with $C_z = \prod_{i=1}^N [z_i, z_i + 1)$. For 1 , we have:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^p dx = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \int_{C_z} |u_n|^p dx \le \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^N} ||u_n||^{\theta p}_{L^1(C_z)} ||u_n||^{(1-\theta)p}_{L^{1^*}(C_z)},$$

with $1/p = \theta + (1 - \theta)/p^*$. We choose p such that $(1 - \theta)p = 1$, that is $p = (N + 1)/N \in (1, 1^*)$, and we get:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_n|^p \le C \sup_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \|u_n\|_{L^1(C_z)}^{\theta p} \|u_n\|_{BV(\mathbb{R}^N)}.$$

So (u_n) tends to 0 in L^p and by interpolation inequality in L^q for all $1 < q < 1^*$. The following proposition describes the dichotomy of a sequence.

Proposition B.3. Let (u_n) be a bounded sequence in $BV(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and for all $k, 0 < R_k < R'_k$ such that:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} u_n \to u \in BV(\mathbb{R}^N) & \mbox{ in } L^1_{loc} \\ R_k \to +\infty. \end{array} \right.$$

Then, there exists a subsequence (u_{n_k}) such that:

- (1) $(u_{n_k}\chi_{B(0,R_k)})$ tends to u in L^p if $1 \le p < 1^*$,
- (2) $\int_{R_k < |x| < R'_k} |u_{n_k}| dx + |\nabla u_{n_k}| (B(0, R'_k) \setminus B(0, R_k))$ tends to 0,

where $\chi_{B(0,R_k)}$ is the characteristic function of the ball $B(0,R_k)$.

Proof. Let us introduce two Levy's concentration functions:

$$Q_n(R) := \int_{B(0,R_k)} |u_n| dx \text{ and } K_n(R) := |\nabla u_n|(B(0,R_k))$$

These are non-decreasing positive functions such that for all R > 0 and n:

$$Q_n(R) + K_n(R) \le ||u_n||_{BV(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le C.$$

We get for all R:

$$Q_n(R) \to \int_{B(0,R)} |u| dx =: Q(R),$$

and up to extraction, there exists $K \in BV(0, +\infty)$ such that:

$$K_n(R) \to K(R).$$

We denote $l := \lim_{R \to +\infty} K(R)$. There exists a subsequence (n_k) such that:

$$|Q_{n_k}(R_k) - Q(R_k)| + |Q_{n_k}(R'_k) - Q(R'_k)| + \dots + |K_{n_k}(R_k) - K(R_k)| + |K_{n_k}(R'_k) - K(R'_k)| \le 1/k.$$

We get:

$$\left| \int_{B(0,R_k)} |u_{n_k}| dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u| dx \right| = |Q_{n_k}(R_k) - Q(\infty)| \le 1/k + \int_{|x| > R_k} |u| dx,$$

and the theorem of the missing term in the Fatou lemma (see [23]) ensures that $(u_{n_k}\chi_{B(0,R_k)})$ tends to u in L^1 . This remains true in L^p for $1 \le p < 1^*$ by interpolation. Moreover, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{R_k < |x| < R'_k} |u_{n_k}| dx = Q_{n_k}(R'_k) - Q_{n_k}(R_k) \le 1/k + |Q(R_k) - Q(R'_k)|, \\ &|\nabla u_{n_k}| (\{R_k < |x| < R'_k\}) = K_{n_k}(R'_k) - K_{n_k}(R_k) \le 1/k + |K(R_k) - K(R'_k)|, \end{split}$$

so that the second point is also true.

References

- L. Ambrosio, N. Fusco, and D. Pallara. Functions of bounded variation and free discontinuity problems. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Oxford: Clarendon Press., 2000.
- [2] T. Balabane, M.and Cazenave and L. Vázquez. Existence of standing waves for Dirac fields with singular nonlinearities. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 133(1):53-74, 1990.
- [3] A. Braides. Approximation of free-discontinuity problems. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. 1694. Berlin: Springer., 1998.
- [4] A. Braides. A handbook of Γ-convergence. Chipot, Michel (ed.) et al., Handbook of differential equations: Stationary partial differential equations. Vol. III. Amsterdam: Elsevier/North Holland. Handbook of Differential Equations, 101-213 (2006), 2006.
- [5] D. Bucur and A. Giacomini. A variational approach to the isoperimetric inequality for the Robin eigenvalue problem. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 198(3):927–961, 2010.
- [6] Dorin Bucur. Uniform concentration-compactness for sobolev spaces on variable domains. Journal of Differential Equations, 162(2):427 – 450, 2000.
- [7] A. Chodos. Field-theoretic lagrangian with baglike solutions. *Phys. Rev. D*, 12:2397–2406, Oct 1975.
- [8] A. Chodos, R. L. Jaffe, K. Johnson, and C. B. Thorn. Baryon structure in the bag theory. *Phys. Rev. D*, 10:2599–2604, Oct 1974.
- [9] A. Chodos, R. L. Jaffe, K. Johnson, C. B. Thorn, and V. F. Weisskopf. New extended model of hadrons. *Phys. Rev. D*, 9:3471–3495, Jun 1974.

L. LE TREUST

- [10] M. J. Esteban, M. Lewin, and E. Séré. Variational methods in relativistic quantum mechanics. Bull. Am. Math. Soc., New Ser., 45(4):535–593, 2008.
- [11] R. Friedberg and T. D. Lee. Fermion-field nontopological solitons. Phys. Rev. D, 15:1694– 1711, Mar 1977.
- [12] R. Friedberg and T. D. Lee. Fermion-field nontopological solitons. ii. models for hadrons. *Phys. Rev. D*, 16:1096–1118, Aug 1977.
- [13] N. Fusco, F. Maggi, and A. Pratelli. The sharp quantitative Sobolev inequality for functions of bounded variation. J. Funct. Anal., 244(1):315–341, 2007.
- [14] E. Giusti. Minimal surfaces and functions of bounded variation. Monographs in Mathematics, Vol. 80. Boston-Basel-Stuttgart: Birkhäuser., 1984.
- [15] R. Goldflam and L. Wilets. Soliton bag model. Phys. Rev. D, 25:1951–1963, Apr 1982.
- [16] A. Henrot and M. Pierre. Variation and optimization of formes. A geometric analysis. (Variation et optimisation de formes. Une analyse géométrique.). Mathématiques & amp; Applications (Berlin) 48. Berlin: Springer., 2005.
- [17] R. Horn, R. Goldflam, and L. Wilets. Soliton bag model. Comput. Phys. Commun, 42(1):105 - 117, 1986.
- [18] K. Johnson. The M.I.T bag model. Acta Phys. Pol., B6:865-892, 1975.
- [19] Johnson, K. A field theory lagrangian for the mit bag model. Phys. Lett. B, 78(23):259 262, 1978.
- [20] T.D Lee and Y. Pang. Nontopological solitons. Phys. Rep., 221(5-6):251 350, 1992.
- [21] M. Lewin. Variational methods in quantum mechanics. unpublished lecture notes, 2010.
- [22] E. H. Lieb. On the lowest eigenvalue of the Laplacian for the intersection of two domains. *Invent. Math.*, 74:441–448, 1983.
- [23] E. H. Lieb and M. Loss. Analysis. 2nd ed. Graduate Studies in Mathematics. 14. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS)., 2001.
- [24] P.-L. Lions. Symétrie et compacité dans les espaces de Sobolev. J. Funct. Anal., 49:315–334, 1982.
- [25] P.-L. Lions. The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. I. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincar, Anal. Non Linaire 1, pages 109–145, 1984.
- [26] P. Mathieu. Compact solitons, bags, and radial excitations. Phys. Rev. D, 32(12):3288–3293, Dec 1985.
- [27] P. Mathieu and R. Saly. Baglike solutions of a dirac equation with fractional nonlinearity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 29(12):2879–2883, Jun 1984.
- [28] L. Modica. The gradient theory of phase transitions and the minimal interface criterion. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 98:123–142, 1987.
- [29] L. Modica and S. Mortola. Il limite nella Γ-convergenza di una famiglia di funzionali ellittici. Boll. Unione Mat. Ital., V. Ser., A, 14:526–529, 1977.
- [30] L. Modica and S. Mortola. Un esempio di Γ⁻-convergenza. Boll. Unione Mat. Ital., V. Ser., B, 14:285–299, 1977.
- [31] M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. IV: Analysis of operators. New York - San Francisco - London: Academic Press., 1978.
- [32] R. Saly. Soliton bag model. Comput. Phys. Commun, 30(4):411 419, 1983.
- [33] R. Saly and M. K. Sundaresan. Excited states in the soliton bag model. Phys. Rev. D, 29:525– 532, February 1984.
- [34] W. Sickel, L. Skrzypczak, and J. Vybiral. On the interplay of regularity and decay in case of radial functions I: Inhomogeneous spaces. *Commun. Contemp. Math.*, 14(1):1250005, 60 p., 2012.
- [35] P. Sternberg. The effect of a singular perturbation on nonconvex variational problems. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 101(3):209–260, 1988.
- [36] W. A. Strauss. Existence of solitary waves in higher dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys., 55:149–162, 1977.
- [37] M. Struwe. Variational methods. Applications to nonlinear partial differential equations and Hamiltonian systems. 4th ed. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge 34. Berlin: Springer., 2008.
- [38] B. Thaller. The Dirac equation. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Berlin: Springer-Verlag., 1991.

Acknowledgement. The author would like to thank Eric Séré, Mathieu Lewin and Jimmy Lamboley for useful discussions and helpful comments. This work was partially supported by the Grant ANR-10-BLAN 0101 of the French Ministry of research.

CEREMADE (UMR CNRS no. 7534), Université Paris-Dauphine, Place De Lattre De Tassigny, F75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

 $E\text{-}mail\ address: \texttt{letreust} \texttt{@ceremade.dauphine.fr}$